SEMMELWEIS EGYETEM DOKTORI ISKOLA

Ph.D. értekezések

3056.

SZUÁK ANDRÁS

Viscerális megbetegedések intervenciós, sebészeti kezelése és a hasüregi szervek transzplantációja című program

> Programvezető: Dr. Szijártó Attila, egyetemi tanár Témavezető: Dr. Harsányi László, egyetemi tanár Konzulens: Dr. Nemeskéri Ágnes, egyetemi docens

Arterial variations in the upper abdominal region and their surgical relevance - with special focus on the blood supply of the pancreas

PhD thesis

András Szuák

Semmelweis University Doctoral School Surgical Medicine Division



Supervisor:	László Harsányi, MD, Ph.D
Consultant:	Ágnes Nemeskéri, MD, Ph.D
Official reviewers:	Norbert Németh, MD, D.Sc Károly Altdorfer, MD, Ph.D

Head of the Complex Examination Committee: Attila Szijártó, MD, D.Sc

Members of the Complex Examination Committee: János Rigó, MD, D.Sc Tamás Terebessy, MD, Ph.D Zsanett Szigeti, MD, Ph. D

Budapest 2024

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of abbreviations	3
1. Introduction	4
2. Objectives	9
3. Methods	10
4. Results	15
4.1. Abdominal aorta	15
4.2. Celiac trunk	17
4.3. Left gastric artery	19
4.4. Splenic artery	20
4.5. Common hepatic artery	20
4.6. Gastroduodenal artery	24
4.7. Pancreaticoduodenal arteries	26
4.7.1. Superior pancreaticoduodenal artery	26
4.7.2. Inferior pancreaticoduodenal artery	28
4.7.3. Arterial arches in the pancreaticoduodenal system	29
4.7.4. Intrapancreatic vasculature – measurements in theoretical resection planes	34
5. Discussion	37
5.1. Abdominal aorta	37
5.2. Celiac trunk	37
5.3. Left gastric artery	44
5.4. Splenic artery	45
5.5. Common hepatic artery	46
5.6. Gastroduodenal artery	48
5.7. Pancreaticoduodenal arteries	49
5.7.1. Superior pancreaticoduodenal artery	50
5.7.2. Inferior pancreaticoduodenal artery	51
5.7.3. Arterial arches in pancreaticoduodenal system	53
5.7.4. Intrapancreatic vasculature – measurements in theoretical resection planes	54
6. Conclusions	55
7. Summary	57

8. References	58
9. Bibliography of candidate's publications	73
10. Acknowledgements	74

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CT: computed tomography PV: portal vein SMV: superior mesenteric vein SMA: superior mesenteric artery LGA: left gastric artery CHA: common hepatic artery SA: splenic artery GDA: gastroduodenal artery PDA: pancreaticoduodenal artery LHA: left hepatic artery RHA: right hepatic artery PHA: hepatic artery proper a.: artery PDJ: pancreaticoduodenal-jejunal

1. INTRODUCTION

Knowledge of widespread variations of the upper abdominal arterial system is important in preoperative planning. Abdominal surgeons, interventional radiologists frequently face anomalies in the arborization pattern of the celiac trunk and the superior mesenteric artery in their everyday practice. The presence of so many variations can be explained by multiple remodeling of fetal vessels. Multiple remodeling process of fetal vessels explain the high incidence of vascular variations (36,1%) [1].

From the 3rd to 8th fetal week the organ systems develop, and later they grow and differentiate. During the growth of the organs, the supplying arterial system also changes. From the paired dorsal aorta, several metameric vitelline arteries run to the wall of the yolk sac. The distal ends of the vitelline arteries will open to ventral anastomosis of Tandler, which is formed between the 4th and 7th fetal week [2] (Figure 1.1.). In the further development, the double arterial supply is gradually eliminated: the right and left dorsal aortae are translocated medially, they fuse, and most of the vitelline arteries and the ventral anastomosis disappear. As a result of the remodeling, the 10th, 13th and 21st segmental vitelline arteries persist as the later celiac trunk, superior and inferior mesenteric arteries. Anomalies in the remodeling will lead to arterial variations. For example, the arch of Bühler [3] is a remnant of the ventral anastomosis of Tandler (Figure 1.2.), or the celiacomesenteric trunk is formed by the persistence of the ventral anastomosis and the absence of the 10th vitelline artery (the celiac trunk and the superior mesenteric artery share the same origin).



Figure 1.1. Formation of the ventral anastomosis of Tandler [4]



1.2. Figure Possible remaining after remodeling anastomoses [4] CT: celiac trunk; LGA: left gastric a.; S: splenic a.; DP: dorsal pancreatic a.; LGO: left gastroomental a.; CH: common hepatic a.; HA: proper hepatic RGA: right rastic a.; GDA: a.; gastroduodenal a.; RGO: right a.; TP: gastoomental transverse pancreatic a.; SPD: superior pancreaticoduodenal a.; SMA: superior mesenteric a.; IPD: inferior pancraticoduodenal a.; MCA: middle colic a.; IMA: inferior mesenteric a.; LCA: left colic a.

The formation of the arteries supplying the pancreas is related to the development of the pancreas itself. The pancreatic buds are evaginations of the distal foregut endoderm and the hepatic diverticulum, from the future bile duct. The dorsal bud from the distal foregut is larger and becomes the superior anterior part of pancreatic head, body and tail. The posterior inferior part of pancreatic head and posterior part of uncinate process originate from the smaller ventral bud, which is related to the developing bile duct, therefore the head of the pancreas is supplied by the gastroduodenal artery. The development of this region also explains variant connections between aberrant hepatic arteries and pancreaticoduodenal arteries. (Figure 4.27.)

Anatomy books describe the ordinary pattern, when no alteration can be found. The aorta gives of three unpaired visceral branches: the celiac trunk, the superior and inferior mesenteric arteries. The celiac trunk trifurcates into the LGA, SA and CHA. The CHA splits into PHA and GDA, the latter gives of the superior PDA. The first branch of the SMA is the inferior DPA. Superior and inferior PDA split into an anterior and a posterior branch, which both anastomose, therefore two (anterior and posterior) pancreaticoduodenal arterial arches are formed [5-7].

Most of the vascular variants of the upper abdominal region are noticed when a patient has to undergo upper abdominal surgery, where the variants can be source of bleeding. Also, during transarterial chemoembolization, the variant vessels should be mapped to reach the target lesion. It is also important to mention that in case of stenosis of the celiac trunk – which may occur in 12,5-24% [8] – a patient can be even asymptomatic if the blood flow is compensated through the anastomoses of Rio Branco [9]. Aneurysm of the visceral arteries is a rare disease, but has a high mortality rate, as their symptoms are non-specific, and by the diagnosis, 25% of them are already ruptured. Most visceral artery aneurysms occur on the lienal artery (60-70%), the least frequent locations are the branches of the inferior mesenteric artery (<1%). Aneurysm on the pancreaticoduodenal arches is seen only in 2% frequency, but they have a very high mortality rate [10, 11], and in the international literature, an unfortunate series of 16 cases has been published, where all of them were ruptured at the time of diagnosis [12]. Interventional radiologists also have to take the pancreaticoduodenal arches into account when embolization is

necessary. In case of upper gastrointestinal bleedings, the source of the bleeding cannot be detected with angiography in 46%, therefore, "blind embolization" is performed [13]. However, hepatic ischemia does not develop in patients because of the alternative blood supply through the pancreaticoduodenal arcades. In hepatic hemorrhage embolization, if the celiac trunk has stenosis – the hepatic arteries can be reached through the SMA and inferior PDA [14]. In duodenal hemorrhage, the GDA is the aim of embolization, but in this case, the arches may provide "back door" bleeding, therefore the inferior PDA should also be embolized through the SMA [13].

In case of celiac trunk stenosis (median arcuate ligament syndrome), the whole length of the pancreaticoduodenal arches can be dilated. Nakayama [15] stated, that from the dilation of the arches, the stage of celiac stenosis can be calculated. In such cases, additional work may be necessary during pancreaticoduodenectomy: in moderate stenosis, the median arcuate ligament should be transected, while in severe stenosis, an arterial anastomosis should be reconstructed (for example between the middle colic a. and GDA). The current surgical practice has been published by Berney [16], who proposed to check the pulsation of PHA while the compression of the GDA before the transection of the GDA and the pancreatic head – therefore the blood flow from the celiac trunk to the liver can be assessed. According to Nakayama [15], the preoperative detection of a dilated arch can replace the method described by Berney [16], as additional surgery could be planned before the operation.

Benign pancreatic lesions need less radical surgery, and with the developing quality of the imaging methods, these lesions – as they are usually asymptotic – are diagnosed more frequently [17]. Instead of pancreaticoduodenectomy, less invasive enucleation, central pancreatectomy or duodenum preserving pancreas head resection can be curative. When performing duodenum preserving pancreatic head resection, the posterior pancreaticoduodenal arch is preserved, which provides enough blood flow for the duodenum and the bile ducts [18].

Pancreatic cancer gives priority of the region. Although the field of oncology made a great improvement in the 21st century, this has not influenced the treatment of pancreatic

cancer. The consequence is a growing incidence (18%) and mortality, (15%) based on the data of the National Cancer Register and the Hungarian Central Statistical Office. In the USA, the third most frequent reason of death in tumor diseases is the pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma, and with the growing incidence, it may be the second most frequent by 2030. In Hungary, the growth of incidence is also expected upon the national data [19]. By the time of the diagnosis, the pancreatic cancer is usually advanced, so only 15-20% of the patients can undergo curative surgery. The only chance for complete healing is the R0 surgical resection. (After surgery, the resection margin is evaluated by histology, R0: intact margin; R1: microscopic residual tumor is present; R2: macroscopic residual tumor is present.) In the past decades, the ratio of operable patients increased, and the surgical mortality decreased. These days in Hungary, surgical mortality is under 5% compared to fifty years earlier, when is ranged 15-20%. The frequency of postoperative complications also decreased which is 35-40%. Seventy-five percent of the ductal adenocarcinomas are in the head of the pancreas, which can be removed by pancreaticoduodenectomy, first described by Allen Oldfather Whipple [20]. The resection involves the removement of the duodenum, the head of the pancreas, the gall bladder, common bile duct, regional lymph nodes and - if necessary - the antrum of the stomach. At the reconstruction step, the bile duct, the remaining pancreas, and the stomach are connected to the jejunum. In the 21st century, the surgical technique improved regarding to the tumors infiltrating the vessels. Earlier, if the PV or the SMV was affected, the tumor was considered to be irresectable, but in the past few years a new surgical approach evolved, by which the tumor is removed with the great veins (PV, SMV). If arteries are also affected, their concomitant resection can be achieved technically, but this procedure hasn't become routine because of its high complication rate and mortality [21]. The higher risk underlines the importance of preoperative mapping of the upper abdominal arterial network, since when the surgeon reaches the arteries, this may mean an irreversible phase of intervention ("point of no return"). When performing the resection, the pancreatic head is separated from the body, and according to the current surgical protocol, the resection plane is at the level of the SMV. Earlier studies showed that in case of portal annular pancreas, the resection is suggested to be extended to the left [22], to reduce the rate of postoperative bleeding. Therefore, the investigation of the fine pancreatic vasculature is essential.

2. OBJECTIVES

Variations of the arteries supplying the pancreas might be critical, and the intrapancreatic vascularization of the pancreatic tissue also plays an important role in surgical interventions. The <u>first aim</u> of our research is to investigate the upper abdominal arterial system focusing on the blood supply of the pancreas.

Apart from the portal annular pancreas, we presume that the optimal line of pancreatic resection could be different from the level of the SMV. Therefore, our <u>second aim</u> is to simulate pancreatic resections within the plane of the SMV, and parallel planes in 1 and 2 cm distance right and left from the SMV. An additional goal is to gauge the transected vessel diameters in the selected planes of pancreatic parenchyma (Figure 2.1.). The total diameter of transected vessels should be kept to a possible (potential) minimum, because it may be correlated with the risk of intraoperative blood loss and postoperative bleeding. A transection plane is defined optimal, when the total cut vessel surface is at its lowest, and as a result, the incidence of intraoperative and postoperative bleeding would occur less frequently.



Figure 2.1. Simulated resection planes in 1 and 2 cm distance right and left from the SMV [23]

3. METHODS

Our research is based on 50 abdominal vascular corrosion casts, which were prepared using an improved corrosion method. Regarding the use of human tissues for research, the project complies with the Declaration of Helsinki guidelines. Prior authorization was acquired from the Ethical Committee of Semmelweis University (TUKEB No.: 185/2004). Abdominal organ complexes (Figure 3.1.) were obtained from deceased people, who offered their bodies for educational and research purposes by living donation at the Department of Human Morphology and Developmental Biology, Semmelweis University. Organ complexes were chosen from cases without any known pancreatic disease, abdominal trauma, nor any gross macroscopic alteration. We were unable to get comprehensive premortal information on the cadavers. The corrosion casts were given unique identification numbers.



Figure 3.1. Abdominal organ complex before preparation

Preparation was done by the following order: the periaortic connective tissue has been removed from its proximal end (Figure 3.2.). The dorsal lumbar arteries were ligated (Figure 3.3.). On the ventral side, the celiac trunk, superior mesenteric artery and renal arteries were identified, and the aorta was clamped just distal from the level of the renal arteries. To get more flow towards the pancreas, the renal arteries were also ligated. The

proximal end of the abdominal aorta was cannulated (Figure 3.4.), in 25 cases, another cannula was also placed into the PV (Figure 3.5.).



Figure 3.2. Preparation of the abdominal aorta



Figure 3.3. Dorsal side of the abdominal aorta before the ligation of lumbar arteries



Figure 3.4. Cannulation of the abdominal aorta



Figure 3.5. Cannulation of the portal vein

The organ complex was irrigated through the cannula with water to check for any leakage. Next, the specimen was put into tap water, therefore the floating in water position provided anatomical orientation of the organs. For injection, the resin developed by M. Kiss [23] was used, with the color code red for the arteries and yellow for the PV. The resin viscosity was set to fill vessels even with a diameter of 0,5 mm² in cross section. The injected resin hardened in a few minutes, and after hardening it maintained the vascular shape. The injected amount of resin ranged between 120-180 ml for the abdominal aorta, and 35-60 ml for the PV. Earlier, the specimens were corroded with concentrated HCl at room temperature [24]. In order to speed up this process, a better corrosion method was needed. Other chemical methods (Na₃PO₄, KOH) and biological methods (Septifos) were checked for corrosion ability at room temperature and with heating as well. KOH was found to be the most effective in a temperature range of 60-70°C. The corrosion was done in a specifically designed and built water bath with thermostat. The method was tried out on rat models for another research [25], where the cast showed intact fine vasculature (Figure 3.6.), therefore it was ready to be used on human tissue.



Figure 3.6. Rat vascular cast corroded with the KOH method. Red: resin injected from the common carotid artery, blue: resin injected from the left femoral artery [25]

With the use of heated KOH solution, the corrosion process for an organ complex needed only 5-7 days, the ideal amount of KOH was 500 g for each specimen.

After the corrosion process, the casts were washed to remove any residual tissue, and they were ready for analysis. Written documentation was done after the identification of the vascular variations. When making photo documentation, we came over another problem. Some variations were in the deep part of the specimens covered with other superficial branches, furthermore, the branches were oriented in several planes. To ensure proper documentation and further analysis, CT scans were taken of the casts, using a Philips Brilliance 16-unit CT (parameters: 140 kV, 300mAs, collimation: 16x0.75mm, overlap 50%) at the Department of Radiology and Oncotherapy, Semmelweis University. When necessary, 3D reconstructions were also created to demonstrate the variations. The CT scans provided the opportunity to make measurement of the chosen vessels, simulating clinical practice. The CT analysis was performed by a qualified radiologist with more than five years of clinical experience.

On all CT scans, the diameter of the pancreaticoduodenal arches was measured. On those casts, which had the PV system filled up, other measurements were done: Specific planes were reconstructed along the axis of the SMV, and parallel planes were also reconstructed to simulate pancreatic resection surfaces using eRAD PACS software. Since the pixel size was available from the eRAD program, ImageJ was used to count the pixels on the

pancreatic territory and determine the vessel cross section. This technique offers precise information on the pancreatic vasculature at the "planned" resection plane (Figure 3.7.).



Figure 3.7. Reconstructed planes. A: 2 cm right; B: 1 cm right; C: level of SMV; D: 1 cm left; E: 2 cm left. The outline of the pancreas is marked with red dots [23]

1: PV; 2: SMV; 3: splenic vein; #: abdominal aorta

4. RESULTS

We have analyzed all the 50 corrosion casts checking for every variation from the level of the aorta until the pancreaticoduodenal arcades to get the arterial patterns of the region. From the abdominal aorta, the celiac trunk and the superior mesenteric artery are taking part in the blood supply of the pancreatic head.

4.1. Abdominal aorta

In our series of 50 corrosion casts, every specimen contained one SMA arising from the abdominal aorta, but the celiac trunk showed some interesting variations. Celiacomeseneteric [26] and celiacobimesenteric trunk (common origin of the celiac trunk, superior and inferior mesenteric a.) [27] are known in the literature, but none of our cases displayed such variations. Celiac trunk with the typical three tributaries (LGA, CHA and SA) was found in 42 cases (84%). The most frequent aberrant variation was the hepatosplenic trunk, where the LGA branched off directly from the abdominal aorta, therefore the CHA and SA formed a common trunk (Figure 4.1.) – this variation occurred in 6 cases (12%). In two casts (4%) the variation of gastrosplenic trunk was observed, in which is the LGA and SA showed common origin; the CHA was given off by the abdominal aorta in one case (Figure 4.2.), and in the other case it was the branch of the SMA (Figure 4.3.).



Figure 4.1. Hepatosplenic trunk, the LGA is a direct branch of the abdominal aorta. 1: LGA; 2: hepatosplenic trunk; 3: SA; 4: CHA; 5: SMA



Figure 4.2. Gastrosplenic trunk, the CHA is a direct branch of the abdominal aorta 3D CT reconstruction.

1: LGA (green); 2: SA (blue); 3: CHA; the gastrosplenic trunk is marked with a circle



Figure 4.3. Gastrosplenic trunk, the CHA is a branch of the SMA. [28] 1: gastrosplenic trunk; 2: LGA; 3: SA; 4: SMA; 5: CHA

4.2. Celiac trunk

While analyzing the primary branching pattern of the celiac trunk, the classic anatomical description of trifurcation was found only in 13 cases (26%). The most frequent pattern was found in 28 cases (56%), where the LGA was given off by the celiac trunk as the first branch, and a bit more distal, the celiac trunk splits into CHA and SA (Figure 4.4.). In one case, we observed the CHA as the first branch of the celiac trunk, then more distally, it splits to LGA and SA (Figure 4.5.). Double LGA was found in two specimens (4%) (Figure 4.6.).

The celiac trunk had extra, non-visceral branches in several cases. One of the inferior phrenic arteries was arising from the celiac on 11 casts (22%) (Figure 4.7.), and both inferior phrenic arteries were arising from the celiac trunk in one case (Figure 4.8.). Extra visceral branches were also documented: GDA (Figure 4.8.), left superior suprarenal artery (Figure 4.9.), inferior PDA (Figure 4.10.) and inferior posterior PDA (Figure 4.11.) were found in one case each.



Figure 4.4. LGA is the first branch of the celiac trunk.

1: celiac trunk; 2: LGA; 3: SA; 4: CHA; 5: SMA



Figure 4.5. CHA is the first branch of the celiac trunk.

celiac trunk; 2: LGA; 3: SA; 4: CHA;
 SMA; 6: inferior phrenic artery



Figure 4.6. Two LGA arising from the celiac trunk.

1: celiac trunk; 2: LGA; 3: SA; 4: CHA; 5: SMA



Figure 4.7. Inferior phrenic arising from the celiac trunk.

celiac trunk; 2: LGA; 3: CHA;
 SMA; *: right inferior phrenic artery



Figure 4.8. Both inferior phrenic arteries arise from the celiac trunk, the GDA is also a direct branch of the celiac trunk. 3D CT reconstruction.

1: celiac trunk; 2: LGA; 3: SA; 4: GDA; 5: SMA; 6: superior posterior PDA; 7: replaced LHA; 8: replaced RHA; *: left inferior phrenic artery; +: right inferior phrenic artery



Figure 4.9. Superior suprarenal artery arising from the celiac trunk.1: celiac trunk; 2: LGA; 3: SA; 4: CHA;5: SMA; *: left superior suprarenal artery



Figure 4.10. Inferior PDA arising from the celiac trunk.1: celiac trunk; 2: LGA; 3: SA; 4: SMA;*: inferior PDA



Figure 4.11. Inferior posterior PDA arising from the celiac trunk. 1: celiac trunk; 2: LGA; 3: CHA; 4: SMA; 5: inferior posterior PDA

4.3. Left gastric artery

Among the primary branches of the celiac trunk, the LGA may give rise to a variant left hepatic artery, which emphasizes the surgical importance of this vessel (liver surgery and liver transplantation). Twelve (24%) of our specimens showed a variant accessory or replaced LHA arising from the LGA.

4.4. Splenic artery

The splenic artery runs tortuously to the left, behind the stomach, along the superior border of the pancreas, giving off branches supplying the pancreatic tissue. The anatomical terminology uses the terms dorsal pancreatic artery, greater pancreatic artery and artery to tail of pancreas for these vessels. The use of these terms is still confused and unclear even in international journals due to the lack of their definition – however, specifying these branches goes beyond this thesis. It is still clear that not all of these arteries are always present, and moreover, they can be multiple in number. In our series, the SA gave one branch towards the pancreas in 6 cases (12%), two branches in 14 cases (28%), which gives evidence that not all branches are necessary present. In 10 cases (20%), four branches, in 4 cases (8%), five branches were found, which are examples for the various presence of the mentioned arteries. The SA gave rise to three arteries towards the pancreas in 16 cases (32%).

4.5. Common hepatic artery

The CHA was present on almost every specimen, except two cases. In one of these exceptions, the LHA and RHA were direct branches from the celiac trunk (Figure 4.12.), in the other case, the liver was supplied by a double replaced system (Figure 4.8.), therefore the LHA arose from the LGA and the RHA stemmed from the SMA. The variant origin of the CHA was already mentioned in the cases of gastrosplenic trunks: in one case, the CHA was branching from the abdominal aorta (Figure 4.2.), in also one occasion, the CHA was given by the SMA (Figure 4.3.). In the remaining 46 cases, the CHA was a direct branch of the celiac trunk.

The liver is frequently supplied by variant arteries, in many cases, the variant vessels branch off the SMA or LGA – these variant arteries are called extrahepatic arteries, as they do not branch from the PHA, they are classified by the Michels classification (Table 5.7.).

Anatomy books describe two branches of the CHA: the PHA and the GDA, which variation occurred in 58% of our cases. In 22%, the CHA got an extra side branch, and in 22%, the CHA had more than two branches at its terminal end. In cases of an extra side branch, the extra artery was a minor artery supplying the pancreatic head in 7 specimens. Inferior posterior PDA was arising from the CHA in 2 cases (Figure 4.13.), in the further

cases, the extra branch was an aberrant right gastric artery (Figure 4.14.) and a superior posterior PDA in one-one case (Figure 4.15.).



Figure 4.12. Right and left hepatic arteries are direct branches of the celiac trunk, the GDA is given off by the LHA. 3D CT reconstruction.

1: celiac trunk; 2: LGA; 3: SA; 4: GDA; 5: SMA; 6: RHA; 7: LHA



Figure 4.13. Inferior posterior PDA is branching off from the CHA.

1: celiac trunk; 2: LGA; 3: CHA; 4: SMA; 5: inferior anterior PDA, 6: inferior posterior PDA; 7: PV; 8: GDA; *: superior posterior PDA



Figure 4.14. Right gastric artery is branching off from the CHA.
1: celiac trunk; 2: LGA; 3: SA; 4: CHA;
5: PHA; 6: GDA; *: right gastric artery;
yellow dots mark the anastomosis between right and left gastric arteries



Figure 4.15. Superior posterior PDA isbranching off from the CHA.1: abdominal aorta; 2: celiac trunk; 3:LGA; 4: SA; 5: CHA; 6: superiorposterior PDA

In cases of more than two terminal branches, the most common variation was the trifurcation (14%). In 3 cases, the trifurcation was formed by the LHA, RHA and GDA, therefore PHA didn't exist on these specimens (Figure 4.16.). The trifurcation was formed by the PHA, GDA and the right gastric in three cases as well (Figure 4.17.). We encountered a variation, where the PHA, GDA and a superior posterior PDA formed the trifurcation (Figure 4.18.). Quadrifurcation was found on three casts (6%), and all three cases showed the same arteries forming the quadrifurcation, which were the GDA, LHA, RHA and the right gastric artery (Figure 4.19.). Pentafurcation was found in only one case, where the terminal branches of the CHA were the GDA, LHA, RHA, right gastric artery and an artery supplying segment 4 of the liver (Figure 4.20.).



Figure 4.16. Trifurcation of the CHA. 1: RHA; 2: LHA; 3: GDA; arrowhead: CHA



Figure 4.17. Trifurcation of the CHA.1: CHA; 2: PHA; 3: GDA;4: right gastric artery



Figure 4.18. Trifurcation of the CHA.1: celiac trunk; 2: LGA; 3: SA; 4: CHA;5: PHA; 6: GDA;7: superior posterior PDA



Figure 4.19. Quadrifurcation of the CHA1: CHA; 2: GDA; 3: RHA; 4: LHA;5: right gastric artery



Figure 4.20. Pentafurcation of the CHA.3D CT reconstruction. [29]1: celiac trunk; 2: SMA; 3: CHA; 4:LHA; 5: RHA; 6: artery of segment 4; 7:GDA;



Figure 4.21. The GDA is branching off
from the RHA. [29]
1: celiac trunk; 2: LGA; 3: SA; 4: CHA;
5: LHA; 6: RHA; 7: GDA; 8: right
gastric artery

8: right gastric artery

4.6. Gastroduodenal artery

The GDA arose from the CHA in 86% of our cases. Variant origin of the GDA is related to the variations of the hepatic arteries. In two specimens, the GDA derived from the RHA (Figure 4.21.), the PHA was missing in both cases, as the CHA was splitting to LHA and RHA, the GDA got its origin from the latter. On four casts, we found GDA arising from the LHA, these cases also had an early splitting to LHA and RHA. Three out of these four specimens didn't contain PHA, since the CHA split to LHA and RHA (Figure 4.22.), on the remaining one cast, even the CHA was absent, as the LHA and RHA branched off from the celiac trunk (Figure 4.12.). We encountered one case, where the GDA was a direct branch of the celiac trunk, as this specimen didn't contain CHA - the liver was supplied by a double replaced system (Figure 4.8.), thus the LHA stemmed from the LGA, while the RHA from the SMA.



Figure 4.22. The GDA is branching off from the LHA.A: anterior aspect; B: left lateral aspect. 3D CT reconstruction. [29]Red: arterial system; Purple: portal vein system1: celiac trunk; 2: LGA; 3: SA; 4: CHA; 5: SMA; 6: RHA; 7: LHA; *: GDA

4.7. Pancreaticoduodenal arteries

Arches formed by the pancreaticoduodenal arteries show wide range of variations. On one hand, the main inferior and superior PDA trunks are not always present – as described by many anatomy textbooks, and on the other hand, the arteries forming the arches also alter from the normal variant. The number and diameter of the arches are also not constant.

Superior PDA was found only in 10% of our cases (Figure 4.23.), in the remaining 90%, the superior anterior and superior posterior PDA had separate origin. Inferior PDA could be observed on 80% of our specimens. The 1st jejunal artery shared a common origin with the inferior PDA in 70% frequency. On specimens, where the inferior anterior and inferior posterior PDA have a separate origin (20%), the 1st jejunal artery branched off from one of these arteries in 80%.



Figure 4.23. The superior PDA is present.1: GDA; 2: superior PDA; 3: superior anterior PDA; 4: superior posterior PDA

4.7.1. Superior pancreaticoduodenal artery

On every specimen, which contained the superior PDA, it was a branch of the GDA. On one occasion, the superior PDA was arising from the GDA, which had a variant origin from the LHA, the other casts showed the normal variation.

In 68% of our cases, superior anterior and superior posterior PDA were separately arising from a regular GDA (Figure 4.24.). In 12%, we observed superior anterior and superior

posterior PDA arising from a variant GDA. The variant GDA was given off by the LHA in three cases, by the RHA in two cases and in one case, the GDA got its origin from a replaced CHA arising from the SMA (Michels IX).

The origin of the superior posterior PDA from the GDA was observed in 10% in our series. In two cases, it was given off by the CHA (Figures 4.15. and 4.18.), in two further cases, it branched from a replaced RHA (Michels III) (Figure 4.25.) and in one case, the superior posterior PDA originated from the PHA (Figure 4.26.).

The origin of the superior anterior PDA didn't show variations, it branched off from the superior PDA – if it was present – otherwise it was given off by the GDA.



Figure 4.24. Superior anterior and superior posterior PDA origin separately from the GDA, inferior anterior and inferior posterior PDA origin separately from the SMA. 3D CT reconstruction.

1: abdominal aorta; 2: celiac trunk; 3: SA; 4: CHA; 5: GDA; 6: superior anterior PDA; 7: superior posterior PDA; 8: SMA; 9: inferior anterior PDA; 10: inferior posterior PDA



Figure 4.25. Superior posterior PDA is given off by a replaced RHA. The PV system is filled with yellow resin.1: abdominal aorta; 2: SMA; 3: replaced RHA; 4: superior posterior PDA;5: inferior PDA



Figure 4.26. Superior posterior PDA is given off by the PHA.1: PHA; 2: GDA3: superior posterior PDA;4: superior anterior PDA

4.7.2. Inferior pancreaticoduodenal artery

In cases, where the inferior PDA was present (80%), we observed variant origin of this artery in two cases. In one case, the celiac trunk (Figure 4.10.), on the other occasion, a replaced RHA (Michels III) gave origin of the inferior PDA.

The inferior anterior PDA showed no aberrant origin.

The source of inferior posterior PDA showed variations on three casts. It was a branch of the celiac trunk (Figure 4.11.), or the CHA (Figure 4.13.) or a replaced RHA (Michels III) (Figure 4.27).



Figure 4.27. Inferior posterior PDA is given off by a replaced RHA. The PV system is filled with yellow resin.

1: celiac trunk; 2: LGA, 3: CHA; 4: SMA; 5: replaced RHA; 6: inferior posterior PDA

4.7.3. Arterial arches in the pancreaticoduodenal system

On the series of our 50 corrosion casts, we encountered different number of anastomoses formed by the pancreaticoduodenal arteries in the region of the pancreatic head. Two arterial arches were present in 29 cases (58%), three arches in 15 cases (30%), one arch in 3 cases (6%), five arches in 2 cases (4%) and four arches in 1 case (2%). All specimens had at least one arterial arch.

Diameters of every arch were measured on the CT scans of the casts, but we had sufficient number of cases for statistical analysis only in the group of two arches (Table 4.1.). In the literature, definite method to determine the dominant arch is not available, therefore we used our own criteria on determining the dominance (Table 4.2.).

- 1.) The first criterion was to have a greater diameter regardless of the difference. The measurement accuracy was 0,1 mm. By this criterion of any diameter differences the anterior arch was wider in 52%, the posterior in 38% and in 10% they had the same size.
- 2.) Considering our data on the average diameter of the arches, which were 1, $472 \pm 0,432$ mm, and $1,383 \pm 0,343$ mm for anterior and posterior arches respectively, the 0,1 mm difference seem to be too low threshold to determine dominance. The

second criterion was therefore a minimum difference of 0,3 mm in diameter. By this criterion, the anterior arch was dominant in 41%, the posterior in 24% and in 35% the difference between the arches didn't reach 0,3 mm.

- 3.) In the first two criteria, we investigated the diameter, but as the blood flow through the arches correlates with the cross section of the vessels, the next criterion was a higher cross-sectional area with at least 25% rate. By this criterion, the anterior arch was dominant in 52%, the posterior in 35% and in 13% the difference between the arches haven't reach the threshold.
- 4.) We checked the cross-section difference with a higher, 50% difference criterion as well. By this criterion, the anterior arch was dominant in 31%, the posterior in 31% and in 38% the difference hasn't met the minimum criterion.

Three pancreaticoduodenal arcades were presented in 30% of our cases, but besides the two ordinary arcades, the third arcade is frequently formed by an anastomosis between the anterior and posterior arches (67%). In 26% of the three-arcade specimens, the posterior arch was duplicated (Figure 4.28.) and in one case, the anterior arch was doubled (Figure 4.29.). Dominance of three arches was also assessed, but our statistical analysis turned up no pertinent information.

One pancreaticoduodenal arch was found in three cases, the diameters were 3.9, 2.4 and 1 mm. The cast with 3.9 mm diameter had an arcade functioning instead of the two (Figure 4.30.), while the further two cases contained the usual pancreaticoduodenal arteries supplying the head of the pancreas, but only one arch was formed.

Cases with four or five arches are considered rare in the literature, therefore they need detailed description. On the cast with four pancreaticoduodenal arcades (Figure 4.31.), superior posterior and superior anterior PDA arose separately from the GDA, but the superior anterior PDA divided to three branches, each of them forming a separate arch.

Five arcades were presented by two casts, both had a variant RHA arising from the SMA. One of these casts (Figure 4.32.) showed three separate superior PDA arising from the GDA. The inferior anterior and inferior posterior PDA had separate origins, they formed two arches with each other and met the three superior PDA from the GDA. The other cast (Figure 4.33.) is similar, but this specimen had only two superior PDA branching off from the GDA, the fifth arcade was a separate one.

Measurement of the pancreaticoduodenal arches		Calculated data from the measured diameters		
Diameter of anterior arch (mm)	Diameter of posterior arch (mm)	Difference between anterior and posterior arches (mm)	Cross-sectional area difference between anterior and posterior arches.	
			Cross sectional area = $(diameter/2)2*\prod$, the difference is shown in %	
1,3	1,3	0	0	
1,3	1,1	0,2	18,2	
0,9	1,6	0,7	77,8	
1,1	1,6	0,5	45,5	
1,3	1	0,3	30	
1	1,3	0,3	30	
1,5	1,3	0,2	15,4	
2,4	2	0,4	20	
1,5	0,9	0,6	66,7	
1,8	1,5	0,3	20	
1,4	1,2	0,2	16,7	
1,6	1,2	0,4	33,3	
1,9	2,5	0,6	31,6	
2	1,7	0,2	17,6	
0,8	1	0,2	25	
1,2	1,4	0,2	16,7	
1,6	1,3	0,3	23,1	
1,3	1,7	0,4	30,1	
1,6	1,6	0	0	
0,8	1,2	0,4	50	
2,1	1,2	0,9	75	
1,4	1,4	0	0	
1,8	1,3	0,5	38,5	
1,7	1,3	0,4	30,8	
2,3	1,3	1	70,9	
0,8	1	0,2	25	
1,4	1,9	0,5	35,7	
1,8	1,1	0,7	63,6	
1,1	1,2	0,1	9,1	

Table 4.1. Diameter of the pancreaticoduodenal arches, difference between anterior and posterior arches, and cross-sectional area difference on specimens with two arches (29 casts). [28]

Criteria:	Any difference between the arches	Difference in diameter ≥ 0,3 mm	Difference in cross-sectional area $\geq 25\%$	Difference in cross-sectional area $\geq 50\%$
Dominance				
Anterior arch	52% (15 case)	41% (12 case)	52% (15 case)	31% (9 case)
Posterior arch	38% (11 case)	24% (7 case)	35% (10 case)	31% (9 case)
Co-dominance	10% (3 case)	35% (10 case)	13% (4 case)	38% (11 case)

Table 4.2. Dominance of the pancreaticoduodenal arches determined by differently calculated values on specimens with two arches (29 casts). [28]



Figure 4.28. Double posterior arch.3D CT reconstruction. [28]1: celiac trunk; 2: SMA; 3: GDA; A: anterior arch; P: posterior arches



Figure 4.29. Double anterior arch.3D CT reconstruction. [28]1: celiac trunk; 2: SMA; 3: GDA; A: anterior arch; P: posterior arches



Figure 4.30. One pancreaticoduodenal arch. 3D CT reconstruction. [28]1: celiac trunk; 2: SMA; 3: GDA;#: pancreaticoduodenal arch



Figure 4.31. Four pancreaticoduodenal arches. 3D CT reconstruction. [28]1: celiac trunk; 2: SMA; 3: GDA;#: pancreaticoduodenal arches



Figure 4.32. Five pancreaticoduodenal arches. 3D CT reconstruction. [28]
1: celiac trunk; 2: SMA; 3: GDA;
4: variant RHA; #: pancreaticoduodenal arches



Figure 4.33. Five pancreaticoduodenal arches. 3D CT reconstruction. [28]
1: celiac trunk; 2: SMA; 3: GDA;
4: variant RHA; #: pancreaticoduodenal arches

The inferior mesenteric artery may provide a branch forming an anastomosis with the pancreatic branches in extreme rare cases. As our series contains 50 specimens, an appearance of such a variation would distort our statistical data, therefore it was not in the focus of our research. In our department - apart from the research – during the gradual anatomy education, approximately 50 cadavers are dissected a year, and in one case, we came across a variation, where the inferior mesenteric artery had an anastomosis with the pancreatic branches: the anastomosis formed a direct connection between the left colic a. and transverse pancreatic a. [4]. The fact, that this was the only case in the known past \sim 30 years, proves the extreme rare occasion of such variations.

4.7.4. Intrapancreatic vasculature – measurements in theoretical resection planes

As described earlier (Figure 2.1.), we also investigated the optimal plane of pancreatic head resection by measuring total vascular cross-sectional surface in selected planes. For this research, we checked 25 of our specimens, whose PV system had also filled up with resin.

The measurements resulted in data that varied greatly based on the pancreatic size, therefore the data were standardized to the SMV plane. In Table 4.3, the total vascular resection surface found in particular selected planes were correlated with the percentages of the total sectional profiles in the SMV plane. The vascular resection surface displaying the lowest value may be considered as the optimal line of resection.

The surgical resection is advised in the plane with the possible lowest number of vascular injuries. In our series of 25 casts, the advisable plane is that of the SMV in 11 cases, 2 cm to the left of SMV in 10 casts, 1 cm to the left of SMV in 4 cases, 1 cm to the right of SMV in 1 specimen and 2 cm to the right of SMV in none of our series (Figure 4.34.). Sample No. 20. displayed the same value of vascular resection surface at the plane of the SMV and at the plane 1 cm to the left from the SMV.

The SMV plane group contains the greatest number of cases with the lowest values (11 of 25), however, the left sided extension groups (1 or 2 cm to the left of SMV) contains the majority of our cases (14 of 25). The surface of transected vessels following left-sided resections may be as low as 29% in relation to the SMV plane (Table 4.3.).
Location of the selected plane:	2 cm right from the SMV	1 cm right from the SMV	SMV (standard)	1 cm left from the SMV	2 cm left from the SMV		
Sample No.	Total vasc vasc	cular surface o ular surface i	of each plane n the standard	compared wit	h the total in %		
No. 1.	199%	169%	100%	<u>37%</u>	61%		
No. 2.	182%	275%	100%	127%	<u>96%</u>		
No. 3.	91%	189%	100%	72%	<u>68%</u>		
No. 4.	216%	262%	<u>100%</u>	148%	130%		
No. 5.	87%	<u>61%</u>	100%	198%	119%		
No. 6.	71%	197%	100%	53%	<u>49%</u>		
No. 7.	168%	124%	100%	52%	49%		
No. 8.	No. 8. 293%		100%	<u>48%</u>	58%		
No. 9.	No. 9. 96%		100%	34%	<u>29%</u>		
No. 10.	379%	122%	<u>100%</u>	107%	200%		
No. 11.	126%	126%	100%	<u>94%</u>	112%		
No. 12.	180%	202%	<u>100%</u>	141%	111%		
No. 13.	283%	493%	<u>100%</u>	253%	130%		
No. 14.	279%	337%	<u>100%</u>	135%	165%		
No. 15.	159%	322%	<u>100%</u>	<u>100%</u> 240%			
No. 16.	177%	154%	100%	123%	<u>40%</u>		
No. 17.	265%	360%	100%	124%	<u>87%</u>		
No. 18.	335%	621%	<u>100%</u>	165%	192%		
No. 19.	41%	95%	100%	44%	<u>29%</u>		
No. 20.	144%	175%	<u>100%</u>	<u>100%</u>	115%		
No. 21.	214%	248%	100%	102%	<u>74%</u>		
No. 22.	815%	995%	<u>100%</u>	305%	300%		
No. 23.	207%	179%	<u>100%</u>	120%	123%		
No. 24.	463%	248%	<u>100%</u>	278%	893%		
No. 25. 238%		299%	100%	82%	<u>74%</u>		

Table 4.3. Total vascular diameters in different transection planes related to the standard SMV plane in percentages. [23] Lowest values are underlined, presenting the optimal resection surface in each sample.



Figure 4.34. The location of the optimal resection plane in our series of 25 specimens [23]

5. DISCUSSION

During revision of the literature, several papers describe the vascular variations in the upper abdominal region, but these publications focus on the origin or branching patterns of one specific vessel. We compared our findings with the literature according to each vessel.

5.1. Abdominal aorta

The unpaired visceral branches of the abdominal aorta are the celiac trunk, the SMA and the inferior mesenteric artery. Common origin of these vessels may occur, but these variations are too rare to occur on our series of 50 specimens:

Celiacomesenteric trunk is formed by the fusion of the celiac trunk and the SMA, and it is published usually as a case report, in which this variation was observed during routine dissection or as an accidental finding in radiology. Only few review papers are known, the latest one [30] describes the occurrence of this vascular anomaly in 0,76%, but some earlier researches showed higher frequency, 1,5% [26].

Celiacobimesenteric trunk is formed by the fusion of the three unpaired visceral branches, and until today, there is only one known case published [27].

The fused superior and inferior mesenteric arteries are called common mesenteric a., but some authors describe it as SMA, that gives off the inferior mesenteric a. [31]. This variation is also rare, therefore it is published in case studies. Frequency of such variant is estimated to be under 0,1%, as published only in one book [32].

5.2. Celiac trunk

The first known description of the celiac trunk was in 1756 by Haller [33], as a short artery arising from the aorta, ending in trifurcation, giving rise to the SA, CHA and LGA. Even before Haller, Galenus (II. century) and Vesalius (1538) also knew about the celiac trunk, but their description was not precise; Vesalius assumed the celiac is dividing to left and right branches supplying the liver and the spleen. Since the classic definition of the celiac trunk, several articles have been written about the variations of the celiac trunk, using different nomenclatures, thus it was necessary to form a classification to avoid misunderstandings. The first classifications were published in 1917. Lipshutz [34] formed

four groups, where type I. was celiac trunk with all three branches, in each further group, one of the branches had a separate origin from the aorta (Table 5.1.).

type	
I.	Celiac trunk with trifurcation
II.	LGA from aorta –hepatosplenic trunk
III.	SA from aorta –hepatogastric trunk
IV.	CHA from aorta –gastrosplenic trunk

 Table 5.1. Classification of the celiac trunk by Lipshutz (1917)

Eaton [35] also published his own classification in 1917, but he formed types and subtypes of the variations, organizing them in a table (Figure 5.1.). This classification is more detailed than the one provided by Lipshutz. He describes additional variant branches given off by the celiac trunk, and also separates the group of celiac trifurcations from the group of celiac trunks which have all three branches, but they don't form trifurcation. Eaton also focused on variant extrahepatic arteries. In his classification system, the normal variant is found in the middle of the first row (Class a, Type II/2). In the table, as the variations got further to the right, the origin of the LGA gets more distance from the celiac trunk, and to the left, the origin of the CHA is showing more variants. In the further rows, extra side branches are added to the previous patterns, and by this way, a total amount of 15 subtypes are described and organized. Even this system is logical, it became too complex, some variations are still missing, and in specific cases, it is controversial.

The first classification used widespread was published in 1928 by Adachi [36]. It is more detailed than Lipshutz's grouping, as it considers variations related also to the SMA, but easier to use than Eaton's classification (Table 5.2.).

Morita was the first in 1935, who added a type to the classification [37], where the LGA, SA and CHA all have separate origin, therefore no celiac trunk is present, otherwise, the classification is like Lipshutz's.



Figure 5.1. Detailed classification of the celiac trunk by Eaton (1917) [35] A: abdominal aorta; G.S.: LGA; H.: CHA; H.A.: accessory hepatic a.; S.: SA; P.: a. supplying the pancreas

type	
I.	Celiac trunk with trifurcation
II.	LGA from aorta –hepatosplenic trunk
III.	LGA from aorta + hepatosplenomesenteric trunk
IV.	Celiacomesenteric trunk
V.	Hepatomesenteric trunk + gastrosplenic trunk
VI.	CHA from SMA

Table 5.2. Classification of the celiac trunk by Adachi (1928)

In the second half of the 20th century, the categorization system described by Michels in 1955 became the standard classification [38]. A new variation, the celiacocolic trunk was added, which case represents the middle colic a. as a branch of the celiac trunk (Table 5.3.).

A few decades later, in 1997, Uflacker expanded the Michels' classification based on angiographic studies [39] (Table 5.4.).

type	
I.	Celiac trunk with trifurcation
II.	LGA from aorta or LGA from SA or LGA from CHA
III.	LGA from aorta+ hepatosplenomesenteric trunk
IV.	SA from SMA
V.	Gastrosplenic trunk
VI.	Celiacomesenteric trunk
VII.	Celiacocolic trunk

 Table 5.3. Classification of the celiac trunk by Michels (1955)

type	
I.	Celiac trunk with trifurcation
II.	LGA from aorta
III.	SA from aorta
IV.	LGA from aorta + hepatosplenomesenteric trunk
V.	Gastrosplenic trunk
VI.	Celiacomesenteric trunk
VII.	Celiacocolic trunk
VIII.	Absence of celiac trunk

 Table 5.4. Classification of the celiac trunk by Uflacker (1997)

In 2009, Higashi focused on the pattern of celiac trunks with all three branches present [40], questioning the trifurcation as a normal variant. The LGA as a first branch of the celiac trunk was found to be the most frequent variant.

One of the latest classifications was published in 2015 by Marco-Clement (Table 5.5.), which system considers additional side branches, but doesn't deal with the course of these extra vessels to avoid a too complicated classification [41]. To keep the system clear, rare variants are excluded, and four types with eight subtypes are included.

type	
I.a	LGA is the first branch of the celiac trunk
I.b	Celiac trunk with trifurcation
I.c	Celiac trunk with extra side branch
II.a	Hepatosplenic trunk
II.b	Gastrosplenic trunk
II.c	Hepatogastric trunk
III.	Absence of celiac trunk
IV.	Celiacomesenteric trunk

 Table 5.5. Classification of the celiac trunk by Marco-Clement (2015)

As several classifications of the celiac trunk have been already published, it could be noticed that some authors focus on clear and easy use, while others try to create a detailed version. To create a simple classification for the pattern of the celiac trunk is a challenging task, as the previous systems try to put the different levels of variations in one unit. Based on detailed observations, the variations of the celiac trunk can appear on three different levels:

1.) Aberrant origin of the celiac trunk. Can be also called as **proximal end variants**. From the previous classifications and many articles, it is known that the celiac trunk may be a separate branch of the aorta, or can share a common origin with the SMA, forming a celiacomesenteric trunk. We could also add to this category those variation, where any primary branch of the celiac trunk has a different origin – many authors don't'

even call the remaining trunk celiac, but the terms gastrosplenic, hepatosplenic or hepatogastric trunk are used depending on the actual variation. The absence of celiac trunk, when all LGA, CHA and SA have separate origin also fits the proximal variant group.

2.) Aberrant branches of celiac trunk. Can be also called as **lateral variations**. This group can be divided into two subgroups. The first option is, when the celiac trunk has its three primary branches, but they don't form a trifurcation, for example when the LGA is the first branch, and the continuation of the celiac trunk bifurcates to CHA and SA, which is the most frequently found pattern. Some authors use the term false tripod for this variant.

The second option is the case, when the celiac trunk has one or more additional branches. Can be a duplicate primary branch, for example a double LGA (Figure 4.6.), but it is more common to find an extra artery, usually an inferior phrenic a., or a bit less frequently both inferior phrenic arteries. In rare cases the extra branch can be a GDA, any PDA, superior suprarenal a., one of the gastroomental arteries or the middle colic artery. From the variants described in the literature, nearly all extra side branches appeared on our series except for the middle colic and gastroomental arteries. Extreme rare variation can be the origin of one of the pulmonary arteries from the celiac trunk. As a developmental disorder called pulmonary sequestration, a non-functioning lung territory receives blood supply from the systematic arteries – the source is usually the thoracic aorta, but can be the celiac trunk in 9,3% of these specific cases [42].

3.) Aberrant split of the celiac trunk. Can also be called as **distal end variants**. The classic description by Haller defines a trifurcation, but in the literature, we may find quadrifurcation, pentafurcation, hexafurcation and even septafurcation as well. In the literature, this category is really confused, as several authors confuse the original meaning of these terms. Trifurcation stands for a vessel, which splits into three at one point, quadrifurcation for splitting into four branches at one point, etc. Misinterpreting these terms, some authors use them as the vessels originating from the celiac trunk [43]. For example, the interesting heptafurcation [44] is really a celiac trunk with three side branches and a quadrifurcation at its end, the authors used heptafurcation just to mention the number of arteries arising from the celiac trunk. The use of trifurcation is also not clear, as several papers use it correctly, but many others name a celiac trunk with its

three primary branches as a trifurcation regardless to their originating pattern. Further problem about the review of the articles, that some use the term tetrafurcation [45] instead of quadrifurcation. As a summary, the over number split of the celiac trunk is rare, on the series of our 50 casts, we found only one case of quadrifurcation.

With the use of the above described three levels, even complex variations could be classified, since an aberrant origin doesn't exclude for example the presence of an additional side branch.

To compare our findings with the international literature, we use the classification of Marco-Clement (Table 5.6.). For a better comparison, main types and subtypes are also presented, as several studies don't provide detailed data for subtypes. In table 5.6., two extra columns are added: main type I. for celiac trunk which contain at least all three primary branches, and main type II. for celiac trunk bifurcation, so one of the primary branches has an aberrant origin. It must be also mentioned that some publications describe variants or different subtypes which cannot fit in Marco-Clement's classification, therefore in some cases the sum of subtypes won't reach the number of the main type, and the total sum will be less than 100%.

Author	Year	Method*	Sample No	I.	I.a	I.b	I.c	II.	II.a	II.b	II.c	III	IV.
Rossi-Cova	1904	1	102	84,3%				11,8%				2%	2%
Leriche-Villemin	1907	1	55	89%				10,8%				0%	0%
Descomps	1910	1	50	88%				12%				0%	0%
Rio Branco	1912	1	50	90%				8%				0%	2%
Lipshutz	1917	1	83	73,4%		25,3%		24,1%	13,3%	4,8%	6%	0%	2,4%
Eaton	1917	1	206	90,2%				9,2%	4,4%	4,9%	0%	0%	0%
Adachi	1928	1	252	87,7%	55.	,6%	32,1%	10%	7,6%	2,4%	0%	0%	2,4%
Tsukamoto	1929	1	100	82%	47	7%	35%	4%	1%	3%	0%	0%	11%
Imakoshi	1949	1	107	90,7%	67	,3%	23,4%	7,4%	4,6%	2,8%	0%	0%	0,9%
Michels	1955	1	200	89%		25%		11%	4%	5,5%	1,5%	0%	0%
Kozhevnikova	1977	1	155	87,1%	76	,8%	10,3%	7,7%	7,7%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Vandamme	1985	1	156	86%				12%	6%	6%	0%	1,3%	0%
Shoumara	1991	1	450	90,6%	65	,3%	25,3%	7,1%	3,3%	3,8%	0%	0%	1,1%
Matsuki	2004	2	36	88,9%				11,1%	5,5%	2,8%	2,8%	0%	0%
Petrella	2007	1	89	82%	51,7%	20,2%	10,1%	5,7%	2,3%	3,4%	0%	1,1%	0%
Ferrari	2007	2	60	88,4%				3,4%	3,4%			1,7%	1,7%
Iezzi	2008	2	524	72,1%	50,4%	19,4%		11,7%	3,1%	3,6%	5%	0,6%	0%
Chen	2009	1	974	89,8%	66	,6%	23,2%	8,3%	5%	3,3%	0%	0%	0,7%
Mburu	2010	1	123	82%	29,3%	32,5%	20,3%	18%	13,1%	4,9%	0%	0%	0%
Song	2010	2	5002	89,1%				7,5%	4,4%	2,9%	0,2%	0%	1,8%
Ugurel	2010	2	100	89%				8%	3%	4%	1%	1%	2%
Natsume	2011	2	175	90,6%				8,6%	5,2%	3,4%	0%	0%	0,6%
Prakash	2012	1	50	86%	76%	10%		10%	8%	0%	2%	4%	0%
Venieratos	2012	1	77	94,8%	16,9%	74%	3,9%	2,6%	1,3%	1,3%	0%	2,6%	0%
Araujo	2015	2	60	90%				10%	8,3%	0%	1,7%	0%	0%
Marco-Clement	2015	1, 2	639	90,5%	57,6%	32,1%	0,8%	9,5%	4,5%	5%	0%	0%	0%
Selvaraj	2015	2	75	90,6%	12%	78,6%		9,3%	8%	1,3%	0%	0%	0%
Olewnik	2016	1	40	82,5%	62	,5%	20%	15%	15%	0%	0%	2,5%	0%
Pinal-Garcia	2018	1	140	91,5%	35%	7,1%	47,9%	5,7%	2,9%	2,1%	0,7%	0%	0%
<u>Our series</u>		1	50	84%	36%	10%	36%	16%	12%	4%	0%	0%	0%

Table 5.6. Our findings compared with the international literature by the Marco-Clement classification

Method: 1: macroscopic, anatomical study;2: radiology study (angiography or CT)

5.3. Left gastric artery

Variations of the LGA is not discussed in the literature as a separate topic. Data on variant LGA can be found in papers mentioning aberrant celiac trunk arborization. LGA branching off from the aorta is the most common variation of the origin. We encountered this pattern in 12%, other authors found 1-15% frequency (Table 5.6., II.a column). From the possible side branches of the LGA, extrahepatic arteries have important clinical role.

Accessory or replaced LHA was present in 24% of our series, which variations occur 4,4-28% in the international literature.

5.4. Splenic artery

Variations of the SA are rare, on the series of our 50 casts, we couldn't observe any variation of origin nor of possible extra side branches. In the literature, the variations are usually published as case reports. More authors found SA given off by the SMA [46-49], but the SA can have its origin from the LGA [50], the CHA [51] or from the abdominal aorta – as we discussed the latter above with the variations of the celiac trunk.

The SA splits to several branches at the hilum of the spleen, but proximal origin of the polar arteries may occur [52]. These polar arteries can also have variant origin, which are often named as accessory splenic arteries in the literature. Variant polar a. can arise from the LGA [53, 54] or from the left gastoomental a. [55, 56]. In one case study, a duplicated SA [57] is published, which may be a result of an extreme early split of the SA to superior and inferior polar arteries.

Various possible side branches of the SA have been also published, which can be GDA [58], superior anterior or posterior PDA [59], inferior anterior PDA [60], inferior posterior PDA [61], middle colic a. [34], accessory middle colic a. [62], or accessory hepatic a. [34].

As the variations of the SA are rare, only few authors provide statistic data on their occurrence. Pandey [51] found SA arising from the celiac trunk in 90,6%, from the abdominal aorta in 8,1%, while the remaining 1,3% was SMA or CHA – this study was based on dissection of 320 cadavers. We can also find data in the classic description of the variations of the celiac trunk by Lipshutz [34], based on 83 dissections. Lipshutz found SA arising from the abdominal aorta in 6%, he also observed middle colic a. given off by the SA in two cases, and also described accessory hepatic a. arising from the SA in 6%. Latter data seems doubtable, as a century later, Caruso [63] published one case of accessory hepatic artery arising from the SA as an extreme rare variation – he made a systematic review of the literature analyzing more than 11000 cases reporting hepatic a. anatomy and found no other publication.

5.5. Common hepatic artery

Variant origin of the CHA is already mentioned at the discussion of the celiac trunk. The CHA splits to PHA and GDA, but occurrence of extrahepatic arteries influence the pattern. Extrahepatic arteries can be classified as replaced, when the blood supply of the adjacent lobe is supplied only by the aberrant branch, or accessory, when the blood is supplied by both the aberrant branch, and the CHA system. Detailed classification of the extrahepatic arteries was first done in 1966 by Michels [64], based on a series of 200 dissections (Table 5.7.). Later, in 1994, Hiatt [65] simplified it by putting the replaced and accessory groups together (Table 5.8.).

type	
I.	normal variant
II.	replaced LHA from LGA
III.	replaced RHA from SMA
IV.	replaced LHA from LGA + replaced RHA from SMA
V.	accessory LHA from LGA
VI.	accessory RHA from SMA
VII.	accessory LHA from LGA + accessory RHA from SMA
VIII.	accessory LHA from LGA + replaced RHA from SMA
IX.	CHA from SMA
X.	CHA from LGA

Table 5.7. Classification of extrahepatic arteries by Michels (1966)

Michels X. is an extreme rare variation, before Michaels' classification, one case was published by Adachi [36], based on a dissection of 252 cadavers. Michels also mentions only one case out of his 200 autopsies. In later literature, Okada published 3 cases in 2010 [66], and 5 more cases can be found in the angiographic study by Saba [67] in 2011. Several variations cannot fit Michels' classification, for example the Hiatt VI. type, which we also found in one of our casts (Figure 4.2.). Our research group did a detailed

examination of the extrahepatic arteries [29], therefore in this thesis, only main results are shown. The extrahepatic arteries on our specimens are compared with the data in the literature using the classification by Michels (Table 5.9.).

type	
I.	normal variant
II.	replaced or accessory LHA from LGA
III.	replaced or accessory RHA from SMA
IV.	replaced/accessory LHA from LGA + replaced/accessory RHA from SMA
V.	CHA from SMA
VI.	CHA from abdominal aorta

Table 5.8. Classification of extrahepatic arteries by Hiatt (1994)

Author	Yea	Samples	I.	II.	III.	IV.	V.	VI.	VII.	VIII.	IX.	X.	other
Michels	1966	200	55%	10%	11%	1%	8%	7%	1%	2%	2,5%	0,5%	0%
Rygaard	1986	216	75,5%	4,6%	13,4%	0,9%	0%	0%	0,5%	0,5%	1,4%	0%	3,2%
De Santis	2000	150	52%	10%	15,5%	0,6%	0,6%	2%	0,6%	0%	4%	0%	14,7%
Kamel	2001	40	70%	5%	7,5%	2,5%	7,5%	2,5%	0%	5%	0%	0%	0%
Covey	2002	600	61,3%	3,8%	8,7%	0,5%	10,7%	1,5%	1%	3%	2%	0%	7,5%
Koops	2004	604	79,1%	2,5%	8,6%	1%	0,5%	3,3%	0,2%	0,2%	2,8%	0%	1,8%
Stemmler	2004	63	80,9%	0%	6,3%	0%	7,9%	0%	1,6%	1,6%	1,6%	0%	0%
Varotti	2004	96	70,8%	6,3%	10,4%	2,1%	6,3%	3,1%	0%	0%	1,1%	0%	0%
Kishi	2004	223	61%	14%	4%	0%	12%	3%	2%	0%	6%	0%	0%
Coşkun	2005	48	54,1%	0%	6,3%	0%	16,6%	2,1%	4,2%	0%	0%	0%	16,6%
López-A.	2007	1081	70%	9,7%	7,8%	3,1%	3,9%	0,6%	0,6%	0,3%	2,5%	0%	1%
Winston	2007	371	50,7%	14,5%	8,1%	0%	3,5%	0%	0%	0%	1,6%	0%	12,5%
Ferrari	2007	60	60%	10%	18,3%	5%	1,7%	0%	0%	1,7%	0%	0%	3,3%
De Cecco	2009	250	66%	5,2%	9,2%	2%	5,2%	4%	2%	0,6%	2%	0%	3,3%
Kishi	2010	361	68,6%	10,2%	6,9%	4,2%	4,7%	1,4%	0,6%	0,6%	2,5%	0%	0,3%
Ugurel	2010	100	52%	11%	17%	1%	10%	1%	1%	1%	2%	0%	4%
Saba	2011	1629	61,4%	7,5%	10,6%	1,4%	6,7%	7%	0,7%	1,9%	1,6%	0,3%	1,1%
<u>Our series</u>		50	32%	6%	8%	2%	10%	0%	2%	4%	2%	0%	34%

Table 5.9. Our findings compared with the literature by the Michels classification [29, 64, 67, 68-82]

The CHA in normal case terminates in a bifurcation to PHA and GDA, but variations may occur. CHA trifurcation can be formed by the RHA, LHA and GDA, which variation is well known [71, 76, 78 83-85], its frequency is found 2-10,4% in the literature, our finding (6%) fits into the international data (Figure 4.16.). The CHA trifurcation can be formed also by the PHA, GDA and right gastric a., which variation was previously published only by Abdullah [86], who found this pattern in 0,1% on a series of 932 cases. On our series, we found three cases on a series of 50 casts, which represents a much higher occurrence (Figure 4.17.). The trifurcation formed by the PHA, GDA and superior posterior PDA (Figure 4.18.) has never been published before according to our knowledge.

Less information can be found according to CHA quadrifurcation. Occurrence was found 0,5-2,15% [71, 85], where the CHA splits into GDA, RHA, LHA and an a. supplying segment 4 of the liver. CHA quadrifurcation is also published in some case studies: in 2006, during an open abdominal surgery, a quadrifurcation formed by RHA, LHA, and two accessory arteries supplying the liver [87] was documented, and in 2017, another CHA quadrifurcation was noticed during laparoscopy [88], but with the limited surgical approach, the branches couldn't be specified. Our findings alter from the published data with higher frequency, as we came over 3 cases (6%), and also with a different pattern, as in all 3 cases the CHA split to RHA, LHA, right gastric a. and GDA (Figure 4.19.). CHA pentafurcation was first published by our research group [29], which is formed by the LHA, RHA, a. supplying segment 4, right gastric a. and GDA.

5.6. Gastroduodenal artery

The term gastroduodenal a. was first used in 1745 by Haller [33], earlier, Vesalius named it as duodenal branch. As this artery is involved in many clinical interventions, a new term, gastro-duodeno-pancreatic trunk was proposed in 2017 [89], but this name didn't spread. In case of a normal variation, the CHA terminates in bifurcation, and the caudal branch is defined as GDA. The variations, which are not having a bifurcation at the end of the CHA are discussed in chapter 5.5., but variations occur in case of a bifurcation as well. CHA bifurcation can be formed by the RHA and LHA, therefore no PHA is formed and the GDA branches off from either the LHA or the RHA – 8% and 4% respectively in

our series. The GDA may have other aberrant origin, which can be the celiac trunk, the SMA or SA.

On our series of 50 casts, we observed one case of GDA arising from the celiac trunk (Figure 4.8.), which variants are observed in 2,5%-6,74% [34, 64, 90] or published in case studies [91, 92].

SMA as a source of GDA is found in 1% [93, 94], we didn't observe this variation. In the literature, we may find higher frequencies published [95-97], which papers mention GDA arising from SMA, but the aberrant GDA later gives off an accessory hepatic artery – it is debatable if the term GDA can be used for these variations, as it gives a branch to the liver. In ordinary anatomical description, the GDA branches off from the arteries supplying the liver, so in the published cases the artery arising from the SMA should be called the accessory hepatic artery, and only after the split, the distal part could be named GDA.

The GDA can arise from the SA, which is a rare variation, which we couldn't observe on our series. Interesting coincidence is that GDA from SA variations are usually present with variant hepatic arteries. In a case study [98], an unusual pattern is published: PHA is given off by the SMA, LGA and SA were direct branches from the aorta, and the GDA arose from the SA. Okada [66] found three cases of CHA arising from the LGA (Michels type X), and two of these cases had the GDA branching from the SA.

5.7. Pancreaticoduodenal arteries

In the past decades-centuries, the nomenclature of the arteries supplying the head of the pancreas was chaotic. In my thesis, I use the most common terms, but it should be mentioned how the most used terms differ from the official Terminologia Anatomica [5-7].

The official terminology contains posterior superior PDA and anterior superior PDA at the branches of the GDA, the superior PDA is not mentioned, though the latter is described in several anatomy books. When browsing the international literature before 1955 (year of the Paris anatomical nomenclature), several different terms can be found for each pancreaticoduodenal vessel [99-102]. There is also a confusion in the order of adjectives in the names, as the Latin names are formed "a. pancreaticoduodenalis superior posterior", "… superior anterior", but the official English version swaps the adjectives,

so the correct terms are posterior superior PDA and anterior superior PDA. Although superior posterior PDA and superior anterior PDA are not the correct forms, they are also widely used, and makes comparison easier with literature using the Latin forms, therefore these forms are also used in my thesis.

The first branch of the SMA is the inferior PDA, but instead of the generally used inferior anterior PDA and inferior posterior PDA, the terminology names these arteries as anterior and posterior branches of the inferior PDA, but the official terms are not used widespread. The retroduodenal arteries should be also mentioned, as it is an existing entity in the terminology for arteries supplying the duodenum which are branching off by the GDA before it gives off the superior pancreaticoduodenal arteries. The problem with this term is that earlier some authors identified the superior posterior PDA as retroduodenal artery.

5.7.1. Superior pancreaticoduodenal artery

The occurrence of a superior PDA is 5,3-9,1% [60, 103], our finding of 10% frequency fits these data, but some authors don't mention it at all [94, 104, 105]. Only early, 19th-century textbooks describe it as a constant vessel [106, 107]. Variant origin has only been described in one case, when the superior PDA branched off from a hepatic a. [60].

The superior anterior PDA is usually the branch of the GDA [59, 103, 108, 109], or branch of the superior PDA if present. Absence of the superior anterior PDA may occur in 1-2,5% [61, 110], only Milon found an incredibly low occurrence (64%) [98], which may be the consequence of the angiographic technique – probably the summation images made the vessel unseen under projection of other arteries. Rare, unique origins of the superior anterior PDA are also known, it can branch off from a replaced RHA [84], from the celiac trunk [111], from an anastomosis between the SMA and SA [112], from the SMA [108], from the PHA [60], from the SA [59], from an anastomosis between the CHA and SMA [99, 112] or with two origins from the GDA and the right gastroomental a. [61].

More data can be found about the superior posterior PDA, which is almost always present, only some author mention its absence [61, 109, 113, 114], but even these papers found the occurrence above 96%. The most common origin of the superior posterior PDA is the GDA, which pattern is present between 58% [98] and 96,9% [113], or branch of the superior PDA if present. Variant origin of the superior posterior PDA was first described in 1745, as a branch of a hepatic artery [33]. Only two early sources mention variant

origin from the CHA with 0,67-7,5% occurrence [61, 103], we observed this variation in 4% (Figures 4.15. and 4.18.). Various data can be found about the origin from the PHA (0-8% [103, 115]), which pattern appeared on one of our cases (Figure 4.26.). The superior posterior PDA can branch off from the proximal part of the RHA, which variation is not mentioned by several authors, some researchers mention it, but don't provide statistics on occurrence rate, others mention 2-4% frequency [115, 116], and one source gives an unusual high 7,7% [117]. Superior posterior PDA given off by the LHA is an extreme rare variation [33, 100]. Combination of variations are also known, in these cases, an aberrant hepatic a. gives off the superior posterior PDA. We found this variation (Figure 4.25.) in 4%, other sources mention 3-7% occurrence [105, 113-115]. The international literature mentions other possible origins: the replaced CHA [118], which may occur in 3% [115]; the SMA, which is mentioned by few authors, but they found it in 3-5% [94, 115, 119]; the dorsal pancreatic a. in 1-2% [114, 115, 118]; the SA [59, 108]; an aberrant cystic a. from GDA [60]; the right gastroomental a. [103]; the celiac trunk [119]; an anastomosis between SA and an aberrant hepatic a. [120]; or may branch off with two trunks from both SA and GDA [108]. Multiple occurrences of the superior posterior PDA are also known. Studies, which provide statistics, found double superior posterior PDA in 10,7-20% [108, 121], triple superior posterior PDA in 5% [121], but quadruple appearance is only mentioned by one author [118].

5.7.2. Inferior pancreaticoduodenal artery

The inferior PDA is usually the first branch of the SMA, the most frequent variation is its common origin with the 1st jejunal a., which variation is called as PDJ trunk by some authors. As the inferior anterior PDA and inferior posterior PDA can arise separately, any of them can share a common origin with the 1st jejunal a., which variations are also mentioned as PDJ trunk. Occurrence of PDJ trunk is ranges 20-64,7% [122, 123]. The inferior PDA can be a branch of a variant hepatic a. from the SMA, which we observed in one case, other authors also mention it, but none of them provides data on frequency [9, 118, 124]. The dorsal pancreatic a. and the inferior PDA can origin with common trunk from various places: celiac trunk, 2nd jejunal a., SA or middle colic a. [60]. In rare cases, the inferior PDA can arise from 2nd or 3rd jejunal arteries [61, 101] or from transverse pancreatic a. [125]. Most authors agree that inferior PDA from middle colic a.

is a rare variation, but Ferrari found inferior PDA branching off from right or middle colic a. in 3,3 and 8,3% respectively [79]. Inferior PDA arising from the celiac trunk (Figure 4.10.) was found in one of our cases, which variation hasn't been published elsewhere according to our knowledge.

The inferior anterior PDA is usually a branch of the inferior PDA, if the latter is present, but the data in the literature is controversial, as the occurrence ranges from 0% [59, 104] to 82% [60, 94]. It is also confusing that different authors interpret common origin with the 1st jejunal a. as PDJ, or common origin is mentioned, or inferior anterior arising from 1st jejunal a. is published, but the pattern is the same in these cases, which may be present in 17,1-40% [59, 61, 122]. The inferior anterior PDA can also arise from the SMA, which is found between 1,8% [60] and 50% [59]. Origin from the 2nd jejunal a. ranges from 2% [60] to 6,6% [103], and origin from 3rd jejunal a. is also known [103]. In rare cases, the inferior anterior PDA can be a branch of the dorsal pancreatic a. [103, 114], the celiac trunk [60], the middle colic a. [60], the SA [60], the right gastoomental a. [60] or even an aberrant hepatic a. from the SMA [60, 114, 118]. The presence of the inferior anterior PDA is constant, only Calas and Thomford published its absence in 2-6,7% [103, 59]. The inferior posterior PDA is usually the artery with the greatest diameter, according to Evrard, this is the main artery supplying the pancreatic head [61]. It has similar variations as the inferior anterior PDA, so it is usually a branch of the inferior PDA, if present, and common origin with 1st jejunal a. is also a common finding [60, 126]. The inferior posterior PDA can have variant origin from the SMA in 8,6-56,6% [59, 126], from the SA [61], from the right gastroomental a. [60], from the dorsal pancreatic a. [103, 114, 122], from the transverse pancreatic a. [122, 126], from the 2nd jejunal a. [103], or from an aberrant hepatic a. from the SMA [60, 103, 114, 115, 118, 122, 126] - we observed the last pattern is one of our casts (Figure 4.27.). We also observed two variations which haven't been published yet: the inferior posterior PDA branched off from the celiac trunk (Figure 4.11.) in one case and from the CHA (Figure 4.13.) in another case. Most researchers found the inferior posterior PDA as a constant vessel, but some sources mention its absence [103, 105, 114], with the highest rate of 10% [59].

5.7.3. Arterial arches in pancreaticoduodenal system

Variant origin of the pancreaticoduodenal arteries has been widely investigated by several authors, but less publications can be found about the variations in the arterial arches. According to the number of arches, Chavan [127] described absence of the anterior and posterior arches in 1-1 specimen based on 50 dissections. In comparison, Donatini [104] found missing arcades to be more frequent (despite the smaller sample size of 40): anterior arch was detected only in 20 (50%), posterior arch in 30 (75%) dissected specimens. Kimura [128] published absent arcades only posteriorly in 5 out of 40 (12,5%) dissections. Sakagami [129] found that only one out of 20 fetal dissections exhibited a missing anterior arch. None of the authors mentioned above published two or more arches. We discovered that double posterior arches were more common than anterior ones, similar to Woodburne's [114] 150 dissections; however, the paper provides no data of how frequently these variations appeared. Krakowiak [130] studied 60 fetuses in dissection and found that only two of them had anterior double arches. Macchi [117] found double posterior arch in 7,7%, and double anterior arch in 12%, while the posterior arch was missing in 30,8%, and the anterior arch was absent in 32% - the study was based on corrosion casts and CT scans. Michels [118] described triple arterial arches based on 200 dissections, furthermore Nebesar [94] mentioned even quadruple arcades in his atlas of angiograms, but the occurrence was not provided. We detected three arches in 15 casts, four arches in one specimen, and five arches in two cases out of our series of 50 human abdominal corrosion casts.

Presence of a third, middle pancreaticoduodenal arch connecting the two original arches is detected in different (5-81%) frequencies in review papers [62, 99]. Falconer [105] described it in 11 instances of a series consisting of 27 dissections and 23 corrosion casts. While Yamaguchi [131] found this anastomotic arch to be an almost constant vascular variation (86%) in 51 analyzed Japanese samples, it appeared only in 20% of our series. The luminal diameters of simple and multiple pancreaticoduodenal arches determine their clinically significant vascular flow capacity. The pancreaticoduodenal arteries' vascular dimensions were surveyed by a small number of authors, who only measured the arteries' outer diameters. Bertelli [99] reports only the diameter of the superior anterior PDA (1-3 mm), but diameters were not mentioned according to any other PDA. Donatini [104] gauged the calibers of both pancreaticoduodenal arteries and veins, however, only the number of cases with a diameter of 3 mm or more was described; no detailed results were provided. Yamaguchi [131] reported comprehensive data on the dimensions of the communicating artery that connects the anterior and posterior PD arches. Macchi provided detailed measurements based on 30 CT angiographies and 10 corrosion casts: diameter of superior posterior PDA was $2,3 \pm 0,9$ mm, diameter of superior anterior PDA was $2 \pm 0,5$ mm, diameter of inferior PDA was $2,7 \pm 1,7$ mm, diameter of inferior anterior PDA was $2,1 \pm 0,7$ mm and the diameter of inferior PDA was $2 \pm 1,1$ mm.

5.7.4. Intrapancreatic vasculature – measurements in theoretical resection planes

According to our knowledge, our study [23] is the first approach to assess the surgical plane in pancreaticoduodenectomy based on detailed anatomical specimens.

Our findings - based on the simulated theoretical surgical resection planes - correspond with current surgical studies on pancreatic resection. In instances of modified resection lines to the left, Matsui et al. [132] detected less bleeding, and Partelli et al. [133] found that the amount of blood loss is correlated with the thickness of the cut parenchyma, however, distal pancreatectomies were the subject of research by both writers.

6. CONCLUSIONS

The upper abdominal arterial variations - focusing on the blood supply of the pancreas – are discussed in detail in this research. However, to get a view of the whole upper abdominal complex system, frequency of normal variants (as described in classic anatomy [131-133]) must also be taken into account.

Celiac trunk with the typical three tributaries (LGA, CHA and SA) was found in 42 of our cases (84%). The most frequently observed branching pattern was the early origin of the LGA, which appeared on 56% of our casts. Trifurcation of the celiac trunk – which is the described normal pattern by classic anatomy books – only occurred in 26% of our series. In most of our casts, the CHA was branching to GDA and PHA (58%), and the GDA was branching from the CHA in 86%. The most frequently observed variations of the pancreaticoduodenal arteries were: superior anterior PDA and superior posterior PDA stem from the GDA separately (68%), a common inferior PDA appeared in 80%, and shared common origin with jejunal arteries in 70%.

If we consider the most frequent patterns are normal variations, there is no variation on different branching levels in 84%, 56%, 58%, 86%, 68%, 80% and 70%. It is characteristic in the international literature, that one branching level is under focus, therefore occurrence of normal variation is published in similarly high numbers. But if we check the casts one by one, a variation will usually occur in one of the branching levels. Only 3 out of our 50 specimens didn't show any alterations related to the most frequent patterns, which underlines the importance of vascular variations. The high ratio of normal variants published could cause a false illusion of the vascular variants being rare, while occurrence of vascular variants is almost constant.

We encountered 4 new variations, which – according to our knowledge – haven't been published elsewhere:

-PHA, GDA and superior posterior PDA arising from the CHA with trifurcation (Figure 4.18)

-inferior PDA arising from the celiac trunk (Figure 4.10.)-inferior posterior PDA arising from the celiac trunk (Figure 4.11.)-inferior posterior PDA arising from the CHA (Figure 4.13.)

After detailed investigation of the blood supply of the pancreas, we examined the intrapancreatic vasculature focusing on the surgical approach of pancreatic head resection. Anatomical corrosion cast specimens were used to simulate various resection planes using CT, but the technique is repeatable in clinical settings. Our measurements and simulations demonstrated that selecting a transection plane on the left side of the SMV, which exhibits lower values of cut vessel surface, could optimize pancreatic resections in over half of our cases. This might suggest a decreased chance of bleeding after surgery. Therefore, since abdominal CT or MR are nearly always performed on patients undergoing pancreatic resection, it is advised that the resection plane should be established by the preoperative imaging techniques. In clinical practice, the resection planes can be simulated by using DICOM viewer software with the multiplanar reconstruction option. Reducing postoperative bleeding may be possible with an assessed preoperative CT angiography and multiplanar reconstruction.

7. SUMMARY

Introduction: Pancreatic interventions are technically challenging for both surgeons and interventional radiologists due to the complex arterial system. The arterial variants may change the tumor's ability to be removed and result in difficulties during arterial embolization. The pancreatic head and body are separated at the level of the SMV by recent surgical standards.

Our goal was to determine how frequently pancreaticoduodenal arterial arcade variations occur. The other goal is to identify the best resection line with the fewest number of cut vessels by simulating pancreatic head resections in various planes.

Materials and Methods: Arteries of fifty human abdominal organ complexes were injected with a mixture of resin, in 25 cases, the PV was also filled up. After a corrosion procedure, CT scans were made with 3D reconstructions; diameters of pancreaticoduodenal arcades were measured and - in the 25 cases with the PV – particular planes that simulated various resection lines were reconstructed. The total quantity of vessel cross sections was obtained in each of the various planes.

Results: Two pancreaticoduodenal arches were detected in 58% of our cases, three in 30%, one in three specimens, four in one cast, and five in two cases. The anterior arch's average diameter in the casts with two arcades was 1.472 ± 0.432 mm, while the posterior arch's average diameter was 1.383 ± 0.343 mm. By using a criterion of 25% cross-section difference, the anterior arch was dominant in 52% of the cases, and in 35% the posterior arch.

The optimal plane is the SMV in 11/25, 2 cm left in 10/25, 1 cm left in 4/25, 1 cm right in 1/25 and 2 cm right in none of our series. More than half of the cases belong to the category of left-sided extensions. The cut surface of the vessels may be reduced to even 29% in comparison to the SMV plane with left-sided resections.

Conclusions: Our studies underline that CT/MR-angiography is essential before pancreatic interventions, which helps to reveal arterial variations and enables planning of the optimal resection line. The latter should be considered to be extended to the left side of the SMV based on our series.

8. REFERENCES

[1] Farghadani M, Momeni M, Hekmatnia A, Momeni F, Mahdavi MMB, Anatomical variation of celiac axis, superior mesenteric artery, and hepatic artery: Evaluation with multidetector computed tomography angiography. J Res Med Sci. 2016;21:129.

[2] Tandler J, Zur Entwickelungsgeschichte der Menschlichen Darmarterien. Anatomische Hefte 1903; 71. Heft.

[3] Bühler A, Uber eine Anastomose zwischen den Stammen der Art. Coeliaca und der Art. Mesenterica superior. Gegenbaurs Morph Jb 32:185-188, 1904.

[4] Szuák A, Halász V, Gáti E, Harsányi L, Nemeskéri Á, First Report on Arterial Anastomosis Between Transverse Pancreatic and Left Colic Arteries. International Case Studies Journal 2016 Feb;(5):01-08.

[5] Réthelyi M, Szentágothai J, Funkcionális anatómia. Medicina, Budapest 2020.

[6] Fritsch H, Kuehnel W, Color Atlas of Human Anatomy. Thieme, 2022.

[7] Hudák R, Kachlík D, Volný O, Memorix Anatomy. Triton, 2017.

[8] Bacalbasa N, Balescu I, Brasoveanu V, Celiac Trunk Stenosis Treated by Resection and Splenic Patch Reconstruction – A Case Report and Literature Review. In Vivo 2018;32:699-702.

[9] do Rio-Branco P, Essai sur l'anatomie et la médecine opératoire du tronc coeliaque et de ses branches de l'artère hépatique en particulier. Paris: University of Paris; 1912.

[10] Pasha SF, Gloviczki P, Stanson AW, Kamath PS, Splanchnic Artery Aneurysms. Mayo Clin Proc. 2007 Apr;82(4):472-479. [11] Brocker JA, Maher JL, Smith RW, True pancreaticoduodenal aneurysms with celiac stenosis or occlusion. Am J Surg. 2012 Nov;204(5):762-768.

[12] Sharma S, Prasad R, Gupta A, Dwivedi P, Mohindra S, Yadav RR, Aneurysms of pancreaticoduodenal arcade: Clinical profile and endovascular strategies. JGH Open. 2020 Jul 8;4(5):923-928.

[13] Navuluri R, Patel J, Kang L, Role of Interventional Radiology in the Emergent Management of Acute Upper Gastrointestinal Bleeding. Semin Intervent Radiol. 2012 Sep;29(3):169-177.

[14] Barah A, Omar A, El-Menyar A, Almokdad O, Sayedin A, Alsherbini A, Almuzrakshi A, Khalaf H, Al-Thani H, Pancreaticoduodenal arcades as salvage route for transarterial embolization of life-threatening hepatic hemorrhage in patients with severe celiac axis stenosis: Case series. Int J Surg Case Rep. 2018;48:5–9.

[15] Nakayama Y, Sugimoto M, Kobayashi T, Gotohda N, Takahashi S, Kusumoto M, Konishi M, Impact of pancreaticoduodenal arcade dilation on postoperative outcomes after pancreaticoduodenectomy. HPB (Oxford). 2018 Jan;20(1):49-56.

[16] Berney T, Pretre R, Chassot G, Morel P, The role of revascularization in celiac occlusion and pancreatoduodenectomy. Am J. Surg. 1998 Oct;176(4):352-6.

[17] Beger HG, Siech M, Poch B, Mayer B, Schoenberg MH, Limited Surgery for Benign Tumors of the Pancreas: A Systematic Review. World J Surg. 2015 Jun;39(6):1557-1566.

[18] Liu X, Hu Z, Zhuo X, Qin J, Xing Z, Liang Y, Duan J, Liu J, How to implement minimally invasive duodenum-preserving total pancreatic head resection for patients with pancreatic head lesions: A retrospective study. Medicine (Baltimore). 2023 Aug4;102(31):e34608.

[19] Borka K, A pankreászdaganatok patológiája. A pankreászdaganatok pontos hisztológiai besorolása az adekvát onkológiai terápia alapja. Magy Onkol. 2021 Oct 6;65(3):206-213.

[20] Whipple AO, Observations on radical surgery for lesions of the pancreas. Surg Gyn Obst 1946;82:62.

[21] Bursics A, A hasnyálmirigyrák sebészi kezelése. Magy Onkol. 2021 Oct 6;65(3):257-264.

[22] Pandrowala S, Parray A, Chaudhari V, Shrikhande SV, Bhandare MS, Portal Annular Pancreas (PAP): an Underestimated Devil in Pancreatic Surgery-Systematic Review of Literature and Case Report. J Gastrointest Surg. 2021 May;25(5):1332-1339.

[23] Szuák A, Korom Cs, Németh K, Nemeskéri Á, Harsányi L, Can the transection plane be optimized in pancreatic resections? Physiol Int. 2023 Feb 8;110(1):46-51.

[24] Törő K, Kiss M, Szarvas V, Nemeskéri Á, Kristóf I, Magyar L, Keller É, Post mortem introduction of corrosion cast method after coronary stent implantation. Forensic Sci Int. 2007 Sep 13;171(2-3):208-211.

[25] Rosero O, Németh K, Turóczi Z, Fülöp A, Garbaisz D, Győrffy A, Szuák A, Dorogi B, Kiss M, Nemeskéri Á, Harsányi L, Szijártó A, Collateral circulation of the rat lower limb and its significance in ischemia-reperfusion studies. Surg Today. 2014 Dec;44(12):2345-2353.

[26] Yi SQ, Terayama H, Naito M, Hayashi S, Moriyama H, Tsuchida A, Itoh M, A common celiacomesenteric trunk, and a brief review of the literature. Ann Anat. 2007;189(5):482-488.

[27] Nonent M, Larroche P, Forlodou P, Senecail B, Celiac-bimesenteric trunk: anatomic and radiologic description—case report. Radiology. 2001 Aug;200(2):489-291.

[28] Szuák A, Németh K, Korom Cs, Gáti E, Karlinger K, Harsányi L, Nemeskéri Á, Pancreaticoduodenal arterial arcades: Their dominance and variations-their potential clinical relevance. Clin Anat. 2018 May;31(4):544-550.

[29] Németh K, Deshpande R, Máthé Z, Szuák A, Kiss M, Korom Cs, Nemeskéri Á, Kóbori L, Extrahepatic arteries of the human liver - anatomical variants and surgical relevancies. Transpl Int. 2015 Oct;28(10):1216-1226.

[30] Panagouli E, Venieratos D, Lolis E, Skandalakis P, Variations in the anatomy of the celaic trunk: A systematic review and clinical implications. Ann Anat. 2013 Dec;195(6):501-511.

[31] Seung JY, Min JK, Sa SC, Sang PY, A Case of the Inferior Mesenteric Artery Arising from Superior Mesenteric Artery in a Korean Woman. J Korean Med Sci. 2011 Oct;26(10):1382-1385.

[32] Lippert H, Pabst R, Arterial Variations in Man: classification and frequency. JF Bergmann, München 1985

[33] Haller A, Icones anatomicae quibus peaecipuae aliquae partes corporis humani delineatae proponuntur et arteriarum potissimum historia continetur. Vandenhoeck, Gottingen 1756

[34] Lipshutz B, A composite study of the coeliac axis artery. Ann Surg. 1917 Feb;65(2):159-169.

[35] Eaton PB. The coeliac axis, Anat Rec 1917 Nov;13(6):369-374.

[36] Adachi B, Das arteriensystem der Japaner. Kenkyusha Press, Kyoto 1928

[37] Morita M, Reports and conception of three anomalous cases on the area of the celiac and the superior mesenteric arteries. Igaku Kenkyu 1935;9:1993-2006.

[38] Micahels NA, The hepatic, cystic and retroduodenal arteries and their relations to the biliary ducts with samles of the entire celiacal blood supply. Ann Surg. 1951 Apr;133(4):503-524.

[39] Uflacker R, Atlas of vascular anatomy: an angiographic approach. Williams&Wilkins, Baltimore 1997

[40] Higashi N, Shimada H, Simamura E, Hatta T, Branching patterns of the celiac artery as the hepato-gastro-splenic trunk. Kaibogaku Zasshi 2009 Mar;84(1):7-10.

[41] Marco-Clement I, Martinez-Barco A, Ahumada N, Simon C, Valderrama JM, Sanudo J, Arrazola J, Anatomical variations of the celaic trunk: cadaveric and radiological study. Surg Radiol Anat. 2016 May;35(4):501-510.

[42] Long Q, Zha Y, Yang Z, Evaluation of pulmonary sequestration with multidetector computed tomography in a select cohort of patients: A retrospective study, Clinics (Sao Paulo). 2016 Jul;71(7):392-398.

[43] Chitra R, Clinically relevant variations of the coeliac trunk. Singapore Med J. 2010 Mar;51(3):216-219.

[44] Rusu MC, Manta BA, Novel anatomic variation: heptafurcation of the celaic trunk. Surg Radiol Anat. 2018 Apr;40(4):457-463.

[45] Grigoriță L, Damen NS, Vaida MA, Jianu AM, Unusual anatomical variation: tetrafurcation of the celiac trunk. Surg Radiol Anat. 2019 Nov;41(11):1399-1403.

[46] Fiorello B, Corsetti R, Splenic Artery Originating from the Superior Mesenteric Artery: An Unusaul but Important Anatomic Variant. Ochesner J. 2015 Winter;15(4):476-478.

[47] Oran I, Yesildag A, Memis A, Aortic origin of right hepatic artery and superior mesenteric origin of splenic artery: two rare variations demonstrated angiographically. Surg Radiol Anat. 2001 Sep;23(5):349-352.

[48] Felli E, Wakabayashi T, Mascagni P, Cherkaoui Z, Faucher V, Aberrant splenic artery rising from the superior mesenteric artery: a rare but important anatomical variation. Surg Radiol Anat. 2019 Mar;41(3):339-341.

[49] Montoya M, Gaddis B, Leoce BM, Darik H, Bernik TR, Aberrant splenic artery complicated by aneurysm during pregnancy. J Vasc Surg Cases Innov Tech. 2018 Jun;4(2):119–121.

[50] Spriggs DW, Congenital Absence of the Splenic Artery. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 1984;7(6):303-305.

[51] Pandey SK, Bhattacharya S, Mishra RN, Shukla VK, Anatomical variations of the splenic artery and its clinical implications. Clin Anat. 2004 Sep;17(6):497-502.

[52] Baidwan S, Gupta PK, Chawla K, Superior polar artery arising from the splenic artery: a case report. Eur J Anat. 2014;18(2):118-119.

[53] Patel SR; Lowe S, Accessory Splenic Artery: A Rare Cause of Upper Gastrointestinal Bleeding. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2017 Jul;40(7):1115-1117.

[54] Kervancioglu S, Yilmaz FG, Gulsen M, Kervancioglu P, Kervancioglu R, Massive upper gastrointestinal bleeding from an accessory splenic artery mimicking isolated gastric varices. Folia Morphol (Warsz). 2013;72(4):366-370.

[55] Kumar N, Patil J, Ravindra S, Guru A, Nayak S, Atypical Arterial Supply to the Spleen by Polar Branches of Splenic Artery and Accessory Splenic Artery – A Case Report. J Clin Diagn Res. 2014 Aug;8(8):AD03–AD04.

[56] Padmalatha K, Ramesh BR, Praksh BS, Balachandra N, Mamatha Y, Accessory splenic artery from left gastroepiploic artery. IJAV. 2013;3:106-107.

[57] Slaba S, Sfeir S, Nassar J, Noun R, Checrallah A, Tamraz J, Variante originale de l'artère splénique. J Radiol. 2005;86:657-658.

[58] Slaba S, Assaf S, Aberrant gastroduodenal artery with splenic origin. Surg Radiol Anat. 2018 Dec;40(12):1437-1440.

[59] Thomford NR, Chandnani PC, Taha AM, Chablani VN, Busnardo AC, Anatomic characteristics of the pancreatic arteries. Radiologic observations and their clinical significance. Am J Surg. 1986 Jun;151(6):690-693.

[60] Kosinski C, Quelques observations sur les rameaux du tronc coeliaque et les artères mésentériques chez l'homme. Ass Anat. 1928;23:241-260.

[61] Evrard HL. Les artères du duodénum et du pancréas. Thèse 640, Paris 1932

[62] Murakami T, Mabuchi M, Giuvarasteanu I, Kikuta A, Ohtsuka A, Coexistence of Rare Arteries in the Human Celiaco-Mesenteric System. Acta Med Okayama. 1998 Oct;52(5):239-244.

[63] Caruso F, Dondossola D, Fornoni G, Caccamo L, Rossi G, Right hepatic artery from splenic artery: the four-leaf clover of hepatic surgery. Surg Radiol Anat. 2016 Sep;38(7):867-871.

[64] Michels NA, Newer anatomy of the liver and its variant blood supply and collateral circulation. Am J Surg. 1966;112(3):337-347.

[65] Hiatt JR, Gabbay J, Busuttil RW, Surgical anatomy of the hepatic arteries in 1000 cases. Ann Surg. 1994 Jul;220(1):50-52.

[66] Okada Y, Nishi N, Matsuo Y, Watadani T, Kimura F, The common hepatic artery arising from the left gastric artery. Surg Radiol Anat. 2010 Aug;32(7):703-705.

[67] Saba L, Mallarini G, Anatomic variations of arterial liver vascularization: an analysis by using MDCTA. Surg Radiol Anat. 2011 Sep;33(7):559-568.

[68] Rygaard H, Forrest M, Mygind T, Baden H, Anatomic variants of the hepatic arteries. Acta Radiol Diagn. 1986;27:425-427.

[69] De Santis M, Ariosi P, Calò GF, Romagnoli R, Hepatic arterial vascular anatomy and its variants. Radiol Med. 2000;100:145-151.

[70] Kamel IR, Kruskal JB, Pomfret EA, Keogan MT, Warmbrand G, Raptopoulos V, Impact of multidetector CT on donor selection and surgical planning before living adult right lobe liver transplantation. Am J Roentgenol. 2001;176:193-200.

[71] Covey AM, Brody LA, Maluccio MA, Getrajdman GI, Brown KT, Variant hepatic arterial anatomy revisited: digital subtraction angiography performed in 600 patients. Radiology. 2002;224:542-547.

[72] Koops A, Wojciechowski B, Broering DC, Adam G, Krupski-Berdien G, Anatomic variations of the hepatic arteries in 604 selective celiac and superior mesenteric angiographies. Surg Radiol Anat. 2004;26:239-244.

[73] Stemmler BJ, Paulson EK, Thornton FJ, Winters SR, Nelson RC, Clary BM, Dualphase 3D MDCT angiography for evaluation of the liver before hepatic resection. Am J Roentgenol. 2004;183:1551-1557. [74] Varotti G, Gondolesi GE, Goldman J, Wayne M, Florman SS, Schwartz ME, Miller CM, Sukru E, Anatomic variations in right liver living donors. J Am Coll Surg. 2004;198:577-582.

[75] Kishi Y, Sugawara Y, Kaneko J, Akamatsu N, Imamura H, Asato H, Kokudo N, Makuuchi M, Hepatic arterial anatomy for right liver procurement from living donors. Liver Transpl. 2004;10:129-133.

[76] Coşkun M, Kayahan EM, Ozbek O, Cakir B, Dalgiç A, Haberal M, Imaging of Hepatic Arterial Anatomy for Depicting Vascular Variations in Living Related Liver Transplant Donor Candidates With Multidetector Computed Tomography: Comparison With Conventional Angiography. Transplant Proc. 2005;37:1070-1073.

[77] López-Andújar R, Moya A, Montalvá E, Berenguer M, De Juan M, San Juan F, Pareja E, Vila JJ, Orbis F, Prieto M, Mir J, Lessons learned from anatomic variants of the hepatic artery in 1,081 transplanted livers. Liver Transpl. 2007;13:1401-1404.

[78] Winston C. B. CT Angiography for Delineation of Celiac and Superior Mesenteric Artery Variants in Patients Undergoing Hepatobiliary and Pancreatic Surgery, Hepatobiliary Imaging 2007

[79] Ferrari R, De Cecco CN, Iafrate F, Paolantonio P, Rengo M, Laghi A, Anatomical variations of the coeliac trunk and the mesenteric arteries evaluated with 64-row CT angiography. Radiol Med. 2007;112:988-998.

[80] De Cecco CN, Ferrari R, Rengo M, Paolantonio P, Vecchietti F, Laghi A, Anatomic variations of the hepatic arteries in 250 patients studied with 64-row CT angiography. Eur Radiol. 2009;19:2765-2770.

[81] Kishi Y, Imamura H, Sugawara Y, Sano K, Kaneko J, Kokudo N, Makuuchi M, Evaluation of donor vasculobiliary anatomic variations in liver graft procurements. Surgery. 2010;147:30-39.

[82] Ugurel MS, Battal B, Bozlar U, Nural MS, Tasar M, Ors F, Saglam M, Karademir I, Anatomical variations of hepatic arterial system, coeliac trunk and renal arteries: an analysis with multidetector CT angiography. Br J Radiol. 2010;83:661-667.

[83] Vandamme JP, Bonte J, Schueren GV, A revaluation of hepatic and cystic arteries. The importance of aberrant hepatic branches. Acta anat (Basel). 1969;73(2):192-209.

[84] Lee SS, Kim TK, Byun JH, Ha HK, Kim PN, Kim AY, Lee SG, Lee MG, Hepatic arteries in Potential Donors for Living Realted Liver Transplantation: Evaluation with Multi-Detector Row CT Angiography. Radiology. 2003 May;227(2):391-399.

[85] Sureka B, Mittal MK, Mittal A, Sinha M, Bhambri NK, Thukral BB, Variations of celiac axis, common hepatic artery and its branches in 600 patients. Indian J Radiol Imaging. 2013 Jul-Sep;23(3):223–233.

[86] Abdullah SS, Mabrut JY, Garbit V, Roche EDL, Olange E, Rode A, Morin A, Berthezene Y, Baulieux J, Ducerf C, Anatomical variations of the hepatic artery: study of 932 cases in liver transplantation. Surg Radiol Anat. 2006 Oct;28(5):468-473.

[87] Adamthwaite JA, Pennington N, Menon KV, Anomalous hepatic arterial anatomy discovered during pancreaticoduodenectomy. Surg Radiol Anat. 2007 Apr;29(3):269-271.

[88] Caruso F, Alessandri G, Ciccarese F, Cesana G, Uccelli M, Castello G, Villa R, Olmi S, Comon hepatic artery quadrifuracation associated with right hepatic artery from superior mesenteric artery during laparoscopic total splenopanreasectomy. Ann Ital Chir. 2017;88:365-367.

[89] Kapoor VK, What is in a name? Gastro-Duodenal Artery or Gastro-Duodeno-Pancreatic Trunk. Anat Physiol. 2017;7:270. [90] Petrella S, Souda Rodriguez CF, Sgrott EA, Fernandez GJM, Marques SR, Prates JC, Anatomy and Variations of the Celiac Trunk. Int J Morphol. 2007;25(2):249-257.

[91] Chitra R, Clinical relevance of a rare variation in the origin of gastroduodenal artery. IJAV. 2009;2:69-70.

[92] Natsis K, Piagkou M, Lazaridis N, Koimtzis G, Apostolidis S, The coexistence of both replaced proper hepatic and gastroduodenal arteries due to the common hepatic artery absence. Surg Radiol Anat. 2017 Nov;39(11):1293-1296.

[93] Huu N, Tam NT, Minh NK, Gastro-duodenal artery arising from the superior mesenteric artery. Bull Assoc Anat (Nancy). 1976 Dec;60(171):779-86.

[94] Nebesar RA, Celiac and superior mesenteric arteries. Little, Brown and company, Boston 1969

[95] Younan G, Chimukangara M, Tsai S, Evans DB, Christians KK, Replaced gastroduodenal artery: Added benefit of the "artery first" approach during pancreaticoduodenectomy – A case report. Int J Surg Case Rep. 2016;23:93-97.

[96] Patil V, Goel M, Shetty NS, Patkar S, Replaced Gastroduodenal Artery – A Rare Anomaly and Its Importance in Pancreaticoduodenectomy, J Pancreas. 2017 Jul;18(4):348-351.

[97] Chen J, Ramjit A, Ahmad N, Replaced gastroduodenal artery with continuation as accessory left hepatic artery: a rare anatomical variant. CVIR Endovasc. 2018 Dec;1:23.

[98] Milon J, Milon D, Boullier G, Guerrier AL, Lanchou G, The gastroduodenal artery and its variations. Study of 100 arteriographies. Bull Assoc Anat (Nancy). 1978 Dec;62(179):461-463.

[99] Bertelli E, Gregorio F Di, Bertelli L, Mosca S, The arterial blood supply of the pancreas: a review. I. The superior pancreaticoduodenal and the anterior superior pancreaticoduodenal arteries. An anatomical and radiological study. Surg Radiol Anat. 1995;17(2):97-106, 1-3.

[100] Bertelli E, Gregorio F Di, Bertelli L, Civeli L, Mosca S, The arterial blood supply of the pancreas: a review II. The posterior superior pancreaticoduodenal artery. An anatomical and radiological study. Surg Radiol Anat. 1996;18(1):1-9.

[101] Bertelli E, Gregorio F Di, Bertelli L, Civeli L, Mosca S, The arterial blood supply of the pancreas: a review. III. The inferior pancreaticoduodenal artery. An anatomical review and a radiological study. Surg Radiol Anat. 1996;18(2):67-74.

[102] Bertelli E, Gregorio F Di, Bertelli L, Orazioli D, Bastianini A, The arterial blood supply of the pancreas: a review. IV. The anterior inferior and posterior pancreaticoduodenal aa., and minor sources of blood supply for the head of the pancreas. An anatomical review and radiologic study. Surg Radiol Anat. 1997;19(4):203-12.

[103] Calas F, Martin R, Bouchet Y, Polliack D, Les artéres de la tete du pancréas. Ass Anat. 1955;89:362-367.

[104] Donatini B, A systematic study of the vascularisation of the pancreas. Surg Radiol Anat. 1990;12(3):173-180.

[105] Falconer CWA, Griffiths E, The anatomy of the blood-vessels in the region of the pancreas. B J Surg. 1950 Jan;37(147):334-344.

[106] Jonnesco T, (1897). Tube digestif. In Poirier P (ed) Traité d'anatomie humanie (pp. 48-392). Battaille&Co, Paris

[107] Verneuil A, (1851). Mémoire sur quelques points de l'anatomie du pancéas. Gaz Méd Paris 21:384-401. [108] Petren T, Die Arterien und Venen des Duodenums und des Pankreaskopfes beim Menschen. Z Ges Anat. 1929;90:234-277.

[109] Pierson JM, The arterial blood supply of the pancreas. Surg Gynec Obstet. 1943;77:426-432.

[110] Shapiro AL, Robillard GL, Morphology and variations of the duodenal vasculature. Arch Surg. 1946;52:571-602.

[111] Issajew PO, Ein Fall von Anomalie der Aa. coeliaca und mesenterica sup. Anat Ber.1932;23:70.

[112] Pitzorno M, Morfologia delle arterie del pancreas. Arch Ital Embriol. 1920;18:1-48.

[113] Edwards LF, The retroduodenal artery. Anat Rec. 1941;81:351-355.

[114] Woodburne RT, Olsen LL, The arteries of the pancreas. Anat Rec. 1951;111:255-270.

[115] Vandamme JP, Van der Schueren G, Bonte J, Vascularisation du pancréas: proposition de nomenclature P.N.A. et angioarchitecture des ilots. Ass Anat. 1967;137:1184-1189.

[116] Bertocchi A, Bianco V, La circolazione arteriosa delle vie biliari extraepatice, del duodeno, pancreas e della milza. Giorn Accad Med Torino. 1955;118:141-148.

[117] Macchi V, Picardi EEE, Porzionato A, Morra A, Bardini R, Loukas M, Tubbs RS, De Caro R, Anatomo-radiological patterns of pancreatic vascularization, with surgical implications: Clinical and anatomical study. Clin Anat. 2017 Jul;30(5):614-624.
[118] Michels NA, The anatomic variations of the arterial pancreaticoduodenal arcades: their import in regional resection involving the gallbladder, bile ducts, liver, pancreas and parts of the small and large intestines. J Int Coll Surg. 1962;37:13-40.

[119] Barbin JN, Guntz M, La circulation artérielle visérale. Essai de systématisation. Ass Anat. 1971;153:819-945.

[120] Schlyvitch B, Untersuchungen über den anatomischen Kanal zwischen der Arteria coeliaca und mesenterica superior und damit in Zusammenhang stehende Fragen. Z Anat Entwickelungsgesch. 1937;107:709-737.

[121] Moretti S, Le arterie della testa del pancreas. Ann Radiol Diagn. 1965;38:569-594.

[122] Martin R, Couppié G, Étude des varaiations des branches du tronc artériel pancréatico-dudeéno-jéjunal. Arch Anat Path. 1963;11:A29-32.

[123] Delagrange AB, Barbin JY, Contribution a l'étude de la vascularisation artérielle du pancréas. Ass Anat. 1966;135:297-306.

[124] Melliére D, Variations des artéres hépatiques et du carrefour pancréatique. J Chir.1968;95:5-42.

[125] Testut L, (1893). Pancréas. In Testut L (ed) Traité d'anatomie humanie (pp. 666-667). Doin, Paris

[126] Meyer P, Étude du tronc artérien pancréatico-duodéno-jéjunal. Ass Anat. 1953;40:99-119.

[127] Chavan NN, Wabale RN, Arterial arcades of Pancreas and their variations. Int J. of Healthcare and Biomedical Research. 2015 Jan;03(2):23-33.

[128] Kimura W, Nagai H, Study of Surgical Anatomy for Duodenum-Preserving Resection of the Head of the Pancreas. Ann Surg. 1995 Apr;221(4):359-363.

[129] Sakagami S, Distribution of pancreatic arteries in the human fetus. Nihon Ika Daigaku Zasshi. 1989 Aug;56(4):365-382.

[130] Krakowiak-S E, Flisinski P, Szpinda M, Filinski M, Sarnowski J, The pancreaticoduodenal arteries in human foetal development. Folia Morphol (Warsz). 2004 Aug;63(3):281-284.

[131] Yamaguchi H, Wakiguchi S, Murakami G, Hata F, Hirata K, Shimada K, Kitamura S, Blood supply to the duodenal papilla and the communicating artery between the anterior and posterior pancreaticoduodenal arterial arcades, J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg. 2001;8(3):238-244.

[132] Matsui S, Ogura T, Ban D, Ogawa K, Ono H, Mitsunori Y, Kudo A, Tanaka S, Tanabe M, Position of the Pancreas Division Line and Postoperative Outcomes After Distal Pancreatectomy. World J Surg. 2020;44(4):1244-1251.

[133] Partelli S, Ricci C, Rancoita PMV, Montorsi R, Andreasi V, Ingladi C, Arru G, Pecorelli N, Crippa S, Alberici L, Di Serio C, Casadei R, Falconi M, Preoperative predictive factors of laparoscopic distal pancreatectomy difficulty. HPB (Oxford). 2020;22(12):1766-1774.

9. BIBLIOGRAPHY OF CANDIDATE'S PUBLICATIONS

Szuák A, Németh K, Korom Cs, Gáti E, Karlinger K, Harsányi L, Nemeskéri Á, Pancreaticoduodenal arterial arcades: Their dominance and variations-their potential clinical relevance. Clin Anat. 2018 May;31(4):544-550.

Szuák A, Korom Cs, Németh K, Nemeskéri Á, Harsányi L, Can the transection plane be optimized in pancreatic resections? Physiol Int. 2023 Feb 8;110(1):46-51.

Szuák A, Halász V, Gáti E, Harsányi L, Nemeskéri Á, First Report on Arterial Anastomosis Between Transverse Pancreatic and Left Colic Arteries. International Case Studies Journal 2016 Feb;(5):01-08.

10. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I'd like to express my deepest gratitude to

-Ágnes Nemeskéri MD, Ph.D., Head of the Clinical Anatomy Research Laboratory and Associate Professor at the Department of Anatomy, Histology and Embriology, who helped and guided our research throughout the years. This work would never have come to existence without her continuous professional assistance and foresight.

-prof. László Harsányi MD, Ph.D., Professor at the Department of Surgery, Transplantation and Gastroenterology for providing the clinical aspects of our work, thus upholding the importance of anatomical research.

-Mátyás Kiss MD, Ph.D. for the innovative idea of the resin mixture, which allowed us provide new, useful results to the field of clinical anatomy and surgery.

-Károly Németh MD, Ph.D. for the great help during our preparation work.

-Csaba Korom MD, for his professional help with the CT scans and radiologic measurements and prof. Kinga Karlinger MD, Ph.D. for allowing us to use the CT scanners.

-István Apáthy Foundation, which helped our research with a trustworthy financial background.

Last, but not least, I'd like to thank all my former colleges at the Department of Anatomy, Histology and Embriology, and the Doctoral Scholl's Workgroup for Science Management, who helped and encouraged me during the research.

74